Public Document Pack

Simon W. Baker B.Ed MBA MISPAL
Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a
MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 18 June 2019 at 2.00 pm in
The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek
Contact Officer:

Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:S. Ralphs MBE
M. Deaville
M. Bowen
T. Hall
S. Scalise
E. Wain

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader)
Communities
Customer Services
Environment
Planning, Development and Property

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.
1.

Apologies

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 8)

3.

Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

5.

Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any

P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Tel: 0345 605 3010

A G E N D A (Continued)

6.

Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any

7.

Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any

8.

Leader
8 .1

Forward Plan (Pages 9 - 16)

8 .2

Appointment of Member Development Champion (Pages 17 - 18)

8 .3

Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual Report 2018/19 (Pages 19 106)

9.

Planning, Development and Property

10.

Consideration of the submitted draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Pages 107 206)

11.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Chair to Move:“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the
public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in
Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the
public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

12.

Ascent - Review of Business Model
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS
TUESDAY, 12 FEBRUARY 2019
PRESENT:

Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)
Councillors M Bowen, A Forrester, T Hall, D Ogden, S Scalise and
E Wain

IN ATTEDNANCE:
34

Councillors B Cawley, E Fallows and M Gledhill

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED)
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2018 were approved.

35

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations made.

36

FORWARD PLAN
DECISION:
That the Forward Plan for the period February to April 2019 be approved for
publication.

37

THIRD QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE
REVIEW 2018/19
The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December 2018 (“Third
Quarter 2018/19”). The report was considered by the Resources Overview and
Scrutiny Panel on 6 February 2019. The position can be summarised as follows:
Subject
Finance

Headline
The Finance headlines for the third quarter are:
Performance against Budget


The General Fund budget for 2018/19 was forecast to be
£148,430 underspent at the quarter three stage

Efficiency Programme


To date, £372,050 had been achieved against the 2018/19
efficiency target of £830,000. Any shortfall may be offset by
use of the authority’s earmarked efficiency programme reserve
or using in year corporate savings

Capital Programme

Page 3

Cabinet - 12 February 2019


The revised Capital Programme budget for 2018/19 was £6.1
million including the carry forward of capital underspends from
2017/18. The projected outturn for the year was £3.6 million –
with £2.5million of projects expected to be re-profiled into
future years.

Treasury Management




Cash investments held at 31st December 2018 totalled £6.8
million. The Ascent loan and debenture currently stood at £14
million.
Council borrowing at 31st December 2018 totalled £7 million
(relates to the Ascent loan)
The Council’s net interest receipts budget target was projected
to be £50,500 above target

Revenue Collection




Procurement

The procurement headlines for the third quarter are:




Performance

84.3% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 2018,
compared to 84.5% for the same period last year.
80.9% of Business Rates was collected by 31st December
2018 compared with 81.7% for the same period last year.
At the end of quarter three the value of sundry debt that was
over 60 days old was £133,450, compared to £105,030 at 30th
Dec 2017- the current year figure includes two invoices for a
single customer totalling £57,000 which were paid within 10
days of the quarter end.

16 procurement activities were completed
The procurement forward plan includes 54 procurement
activities for 2018/19 (either SMDC only or joint)
At 31st December 2018, 62% of procurement activity
undertaken was on the forward plan and the Council paid 91%
of its invoices within 30 days during the year

The performance headlines for the third quarter are:
 Performance in respect of 81% of the key performance
indicators was on track
 Of the 25 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, one was
complete, two were still to commence, four were rated amber
awaiting a decision, the remainder being classified as ‘Green’
 The Council received 70 complaints, 124 comments and 56
compliments in the third quarter. Repeat complaints and
response times both on track

Options considered:
Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report.

Page 4

Cabinet - 12 February 2019
DECISION:
That the Third Quarter 2018/19 financial, procurement and performance position
detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the covering report be
noted.
38

2019/20 BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2019/20 TO 2022/23
The purpose of the report was to present the proposed Budget for 2019/20, updated
Medium-Term Financial Plan 2019/20 – 2022/23, Capital Strategy 2019/20,
proposed Fees and Charges for 2019/20 and Procurement Forward Plan 2019/20.
The report was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 6
February 2019.
The Leader of the Council welcomed comments from members, prior to the Council
meeting on 28 February 2019, with regards to ways in which the Authority may
further support traders (e.g. through assistance with car park fees or rural transport).
Although car park charges were thought to be very competitive when compared with
neighbouring councils, members discussed the need for greater support from central
government and to experiment with initiatives as there may be alternative solutions
for different areas.
Options considered:
The report is a statement of fact. As such there are no options to consider.
DECISION:
That the following recommendations be made to Council:


Approves the General Fund Budget for 2019/20 as detailed in Appendix
A (section 8)



Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2019/20 to 2022/23)
as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme
(attached at Annex A)



Approves the Capital Strategy 2019/20 as set out in Appendix B



Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2019/20 as detailed in
Appendix C



Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2019/20, providing
the authority to procure based on procurement activity detailed in
Appendix D



Approves a Band D Council Tax of £150.54 for 2019/20 (an increase of
2.9% from 2018/19)



Approves a Band D Council Tax of £51.93 for Leek and £10.44 for
Biddulph for 2019/20 (an increase of 2.9% from 2018/19) in respect of
Special District Expenses

Page 5

Cabinet - 12 February 2019


39

Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are
adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in
place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A section 7)

TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION AND INVESTMENT PROGRAMME
The purpose of the report was to update Councillors on proposals for the Town
Centre Regeneration and Investment Programme and seek approval for the
submission of a funding bid to the Future High Street Fund to support
improvements to Cheadle Town Centre.
Officers were asked to engage with Government with regards to the criteria for the
fund in order to clarify if applications could be made for other high streets within the
District. Should this not be possible officers were asked to express the Council’s
dissatisfaction and actively explore other sources of funding.
Options considered:
Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council notes the approach in the Town
Centre Regeneration and Investment Programme and approves the
submission of a funding bid to the Future High Street Fund to support
improvements to Cheadle Town Centre.
Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council does not approve the
submission of a funding bid to the Future High Street Fund to
DECISION:
1. That the update and actions within the Town Centre Regeneration and
Investment Programme be noted.
2. That an expression of interest be submitted to the Future High Street Fund to
support regeneration and investment in Cheadle.

40

CREATIVE PEOPLE AND PLACES BID
Staffordshire Moorlands had been designated as an area eligible to bid for inclusion
in the Creative People and Places programme. The report explained the background
and bid process.
Discussion took place with regard to opportunities to work with other organisations
such as the Victoria and Albert Museum, National Trust and event organisers, taking
into account the cultural heritage in each town. The Leader of the Council requested
that a copy of the report be sent to Biddulph, Cheadle and Leek Town Councils.
Options considered:
1. That a bid is supported. (Recommended)
2. That a bid is not supported. (Not recommended)

Page 6

Cabinet - 12 February 2019
DECISION:
That the development and submission of a bid for inclusion in the Creative People
and Places programme be supported.
41

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DC SUPPORT FOR KEEP BRITAIN TIDY’S
SPRING CLEAN CAMPAIGN
Cabinet were informed of the plans of this Council, to promote the Keep Britain Tidy
(KBT) Great British Spring Clean 2019. Councillors commented on hot spot areas
for fly-tipping (which were cleared efficiently by the Council when reported) and the
need for effective prosecutions to deter future instances.
Options considered:
1. To support the proposal of increased communication to encourage
more residents and groups to take part in the Great British Spring
Clean (Recommended)
2. To not support for the proposal of increased communication to
encourage more community groups to take part in the Great British
Spring Clean (Not recommended)
DECISION:
That the enhanced promotional activities which will be undertaken to support and
encourage more residents and local groups to get involved in the campaign be
supported.

42

INVESTMENT AND ACQUISITION STRATEGY
The purpose of the report was to update councillors on progress on the preparation
of an Investment and Acquisition Strategy. The report was considered by the Service
Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 30 January 2019. Members discussed the
need for the Council to ensure that there was a wide mix of industrial units available
to local business in order to retain them in the District.
Options considered:
As detailed in section 5 of the report
DECISION:
That the update on progress be noted.

43

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government
Act, 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the
proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential information as
defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the
public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information
as defined in Section Page
100 I (1)7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act

Cabinet - 12 February 2019
would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs
indicated.
44

CORNHILL DEVELOPMENT OPTIONS
The Cabinet approved a report which set out the results of discussions with regards
to the regeneration of the Cornhill area of Leek.

45

REVIEW OF PUBLIC REALM CCTV SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM
The Cabinet approved a report with regards to further work that had been carried out
to update the Authority’s CCTV system.
The meeting closed at 3.12 pm

_________________________________Chairman

Page 8

Agenda Item 8.1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN
June – August 2019
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take
shortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’ The Plan is
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Should you have any questions
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.
A key decision is one defined as:
"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."
OR
"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551.
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public. However, occasionally, some
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal
information). This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings
where this will apply and the reason for this.
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private. This will again state why this is
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the
meeting should be open to the public. This will also include a statement of the
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 9

1

INDEX
Date of decision
to be made

Page
No.

18 June 2019

3

Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual Report 2018/19

18 June 2019

4

Appointment of Member Development Champion

18 June 2019

5

Fourth Quarter Performance and Financial Review (Outturn) 2018/19

30 July 2019

6

18 June 2019

7

Matter to be decided
COMMUNITIES
Ascent – Review of Business Model
LEADER

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY
Consideration of the submitted draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan

Page 10

2

Communities
Matter for decision

Ascent – Review of Business Model

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

18 June 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private - Information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person

Page 11

3

Leader
Matter for decision

Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual
Report 2018/19

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

18 June 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 12

4

Leader
Matter for decision

Appointment of Member Development
Champion

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

18 June 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 13

5

Leader
Matter for decision

Fourth Quarter Performance and Financial
Review (Outturn) 2018/19

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

30 July 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 14

6

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

Consideration of the submitted draft Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

18 June 2019

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 15

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
18 June 2019

TITLE:

Appointment of Member Development
Champion

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICER:

Linden Vernon - Senior Officer (Governance
and Member Support)

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval for the appointment of
an elected member to the role of Member Development Champion to lead the
Council’s Member Development Working Group.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Cabinet appoints an elected member to the role of Member Development
Champion.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Member Development Working Group is a cross party group which aims
to ensure that councillors are supported to deliver the Council’s statutory and
corporate obligations, objectives and priorities and to provide Members with
the information they need to fulfil their roles.

3.2

The Group develops a programme of training and development opportunities
for all councillors that is updated on a rolling basis with activities identified
through a variety of channels. Learning and development opportunities should
benefit councillors as individuals in their various roles and ultimately have a
positive effect for the Council and the community.

3.3

An integral aspect of this approach is that the Group is led by a Member
Development Champion who:


Acts as an advocate for councillor training and development

Page 17






Works with both members and officers to deliver a councillor training
and development programme which is member led and member
owned.
Encourages councillors to feedback to the Group any ideas or
suggestions.
Leads on and actively promotes the relevance and importance of the
programme within the Council.
Raises the profile of member development within the Council and
actively encourages councillors to attend training and development
events organised for them.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

An effective training and development programme for councillors helps to
ensure that corporate priorities are met.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

The Cabinet is recommended to select an elected member to the position of
Member Development Champion.
Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Annual Review of Councillor Development Reports
(considered by the Council’s Standards Committee)

Linden Vernon
Senior Officer (Governance and Member
Support)
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 18

Agenda Item 8.3
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
18 June 2019
TITLE:

Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual
Report 2018/19

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader of the Council

CONTACT OFFICER:

Information Business Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1: Annual Report 2018/19
Appendix 2: Performance Framework 2019/20
1.

Reason for the Report:

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:




Provide members with an opportunity to scrutinise the draft Performance
Framework and associated targets for 2019/20;
Present the findings from the Annual Report and how these have
influenced the Framework;
Outline the suggested approach and timescale for the development of a
new 4-year Corporate Plan.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Performance Framework 2019/20 and Annual Report 2018/19 be
approved.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan articulates the aims, objectives and priority
actions which the Council is working to achieve. Its delivery is measured
through the Performance Framework, which has at its centre the three pillars
of value for money - efficiency, economy and effectiveness.

3.2

This report seeks to take stock at the end of the 2015-2019 Corporate Plan
and provides an interim framework whilst a new Corporate Plan for 2019-2023
is being developed.

Page 19

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The purpose of the report is to enable the monitoring of progress against the
Council’s corporate priorities. As such this report has linkages to each of the
Council’s Corporate Plan aims.

5.

Options

5.1

Members are asked to consider the proposed targets and to make
amendments if they consider that they are necessary.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2

Workforce
None.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
Effective Performance Management contributes to the Council’s
financial objectives.

6.5

Legal
None.

6.6

Sustainability
None.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Corporate and Operational Managers have proposed the targets
within this report.

6.8

Risk Assessment
A robust Performance Framework is a critical tool in controlling and
mitigating risks.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Performance Framework 2019/20
Annual Report 2018/19

Available on request

V Higgins, Ext 4057

Page 20

7.

Background and Introduction

7.1

The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2015-2019) articulated the aims,
objectives and priority actions which the Council was working to achieve over
that period. The plan required a new Performance Framework that could
measure its delivery and also aid effective scrutiny through more focused
and balanced reporting, celebrating success and promoting improvement.

7.2

The 2016/17 Performance Framework was built around the Council’s key
objectives whilst also ensuring that the three pillars of value for money
(efficiency, economy and effectiveness) remained central.

7.3

The framework is made up of monthly, quarterly and annual measures and
the Council reports by exception on all monthly and quarterly measures but
has moved away from a ‘dashboard’ approach to one which reflects the
whole framework. The annual contextual measures are reported in the new
Annual Report, which also provides an overview of the Council’s progress in
delivering its Corporate Plan and the results of value for money
benchmarking.

8.

Performance Framework 2019/20

8.1

Targets covering a 3-year period are owned and managed by service leads
across the authority, and are communicated to teams through service plans
and individual performance objectives via the staff appraisal process (PEP).
Managers have been asked to review and refresh these targets for the
period 2019/20 to 2021/22 based upon current performance levels and
national benchmarks, where available.

8.2

In some cases managers have proposed the removal, addition or
amendment of performance measures. Such instances have been
highlighted within the appendix to this report and have been considered by
senior management.

9.

Annual Report 2018/19

9.1

The purpose of an Annual Report is to look back and take stock of the
progress and achievements made against the Council’s stated objectives
and to use this intelligence to understand what still needs to be done and
what new challenges lie ahead.

9.2

The Annual Report does this by:
 Looking at performance against targets;
 Analysing performance (and cost) against national and regional
comparisons;
 Presenting information on the local context in which the Council operates;
such as health factors, deprivation levels, economic indicators and access
to housing;

Page 21

 Outlining the financial challenges facing the authority over the course of its
Medium Term Financial Plan.
9.3

The headline findings from this year’s Annual Report have been used to
influence the targets set for 2019/20, with the expectation that a new
Corporate Plan will be adopted later this year.

Benchmarking Issues…
The Council’s ranking within the West
Midlands remained the 6th fastest in 17/18
for new HB claims. Costs have dropped by
27% and now rank amongst the 4 lowest in
the region.
Spend on CCTV is high (but has reduced)
and crime levels remain low.
Relative spend by Staffs Moorlands on the
provision of sports and recreation is higher
than the national average at £7.22 per head
of population. Despite this, participation
levels show that a third of the local
population are ‘inactive’.
The business formation rate has fallen from
9.26% to 8.69% and is now the second
lowest in the region. Employment rates
remain above average but town centre
occupancy is lower than the national trend.
Spend on development control has
decreased significantly and is now amongst
the lowest 40% nationally. 100% of ‘major’
applications were processed, placing us top
in the region.
Staffs Moorlands’ recycling rate has
decreased slightly but remains the 2nd
highest in the regional rankings and our
residual waste is the lowest in the region.
However, the cost of waste collection is the
highest in the region and is amongst the top
20% of councils nationally.
The Council’s spend on public conveniences
is the 2nd highest in the region.

Being addressed through…
Next stage of the channel shift project.

CCTV project.
 Extended leisure contract in place;
 Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
implementation.

 Accelerated business growth and
employment programme;
 Adoption of SM Local Plan.
A review of the team structure is to be
completed by July in order to ensure the
correct level of resources is applied to
provide higher standards of customer
service / satisfaction.
New service delivery model through
Alliance Environmental Services Ltd.

Implementation of the Asset
Management Plan, including a review of
public estate.

10.

Timeframe for developing a new Corporate Plan 2019-2023

10.1

The Annual Report, as well as looking at performance metrics and
comparative cost measures, also takes stock of the progress the Council has
made in terms of delivering against its priority actions. These actions were
laid out within the Corporate Plan under each of our four aims as specific
objectives.

Page 22

10.2

It provides an opportunity to reflect on the progress made during the last four
years and to consider the on-going relevance of any priorities still remaining.

10.3

The Council will be developing a new 4-year Corporate Plan covering the
period of this administration (2019-2023) during the summer and a revised
performance framework will follow. The proposed timetable for approval and
publication of the revised Corporate Plan is as follows:






June 12th – Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel – scrutiny of 2019/20
interim Performance Framework and the 2018/19 Annual Report;
July 15th – Member Workshop: Priority Setting;
July 30th – Cabinet to consider draft Corporate Plan 2019-2023;
October 16th – Council adoption of Corporate Plan 2019-2023;
Late October onwards – Internal and external communication of new
Corporate Plan and development of aligned Performance Framework for
2020-2021.

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 25

Staffordshire Moorlands: Annual Report
2018-2019

Contents Page
Chapter 1: Profile of the District – Life in Staffs Moorlands: contextual information on housing provision,
employment and skills, health issues and levels of crime

Chapter 2: Financial Context – The financial challenges and opportunities facing local government and how
the Council is addressing them

Chapter 3: Our Vision – The key priorities for the Council for 2015 to 2019
Chapter 4: Demonstrating Value for Money – Progress against our corporate priorities and how we
Page 26

perform compared to other councils

Chapter 5: Our Priorities 2019-2020 - The Council’s roadmap for the next twelve months
Appendices
Appendix A: Aim 1 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix B: Aim 2 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix C: Aim 3 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix D: Aim 4 Analysis of comparative performance and costs

Chapter 1: Profile of the District
The District of Staffordshire Moorlands covers an area of 57,600 hectares, of
which 32.16% is classed as rural, and serves a resident population of 97,106 50.8% of which are female. There are 44,081 domestic households on the Council
Tax valuation list in 2019.

Who lives in the Staffordshire Moorlands?
•

•

Page 27

•
•
•

Staffs Moorlands has an aging population, having seen a 57% increase in
the proportion of residents aged 65 plus from 1991-2017. Over 24% of
the local population now fall within this age group but the majority (30%)
of Staffs Moorlands residents are aged between 45 and 64
Only 2.52% of the local population is non-white, compared to 6.44% in
Staffordshire and 20.25% nationally. Mixed or multiple ethnic groups
make up the second largest proportion of the local population at 0.62%
One person households make up the largest group in the District at over
28% although this is in line with national data
Married couples without children are higher than the national average at
16%
36.32% of the population are educated to degree level or higher, which ranks in the middle 20% of councils nationally. However, only
7% have no qualifications, which is slightly better than the national average.

What’s it like to live in the Staffordshire Moorlands?
Crime – Figures show that Staffs Moorlands is amongst the lowest 40% of councils nationally for levels of crime. Since 2009 there has been a

25% decrease in offences, down to 401.23 crimes per 10,000 head of population.

Deprivation – Staffs Moorlands is ranked in the bottom 40% of districts nationally for its overall deprivation score.

Health – Average life expectancy is lower than the national average for women at 82.81 years but higher than the national average for men
at 80.14years.
•
•
•
•

44.15% of the population assess themselves as having ‘very good health’, compared to 47.17% nationally. Conversely, 1.37% has ‘very
bad health’, which again is worse than the national average
Infant mortality in Staffs Moorlands is very high at 5.3 deaths per 1,000 births, compared to 3.89 nationally
Obesity levels in adults stand at 64.86%, lower than the national median
At 14.08% the proportion of the adult population who smoke is estimated to be in the bottom 40% of districts nationally.

Housing – Staffs Moorlands has a housing affordability ratio of 6.70 compared to the West Midlands Mean of 8.25 (this ratio compares lower
quartile house prices to lower quartile gross annual workplace-based earnings). The lower the ratio, the more affordable the housing. The
average house price in the area was £169,293, compared to a Staffordshire figure of £186,080 and the national average of £287,577.

Page 28

•
•

79.69% of households in Staffs Moorlands are owner occupied, which is higher than the County and national average
8.86% of households live in social rented accommodation putting the area in the lowest 20% of areas nationally

Employment – 63.99% of the Staffs Moorlands resident working age population are in employment, which is higher than the Staffordshire
and national figures.

•
•

The proportion of the working age population who are long-term unemployed is 1.05%, which places Staffs Moorlands amongst the
lowest 20% of councils nationally.
Staffs Moorlands has a high proportion of residents who are employed as managers, directors and senior officials but a very low
proportion of professional workers. Employment in process plant and machine operations is low compared to national standards.

The following pages provide further and supporting analysis from Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics Tool on some key contextual data that
helps the Council understand the issues facing our local population and to plan services accordingly.

Page 29

Page 30

Page 31

Page 32

Chapter 2: Our Financial Context
The District has faced significant financial challenges over recent years as a consequence of austerity measures along with
cost pressures within services and greater volatility in financing streams. The shift in local authority financing is increasing
the focus on locally generated income streams – such as Council Tax and Business Rates, and reducing the reliance on core
Central Government funding. This increases the control and influence the Council has over income generated within the
District but has also made it vulnerable to fluctuations within the local economy, hence increasing financial risk. The table below compares Council
spend per capita against all District Councils and shows that Staffs Moorlands has the 38th lowest spend out of 200 councils nationally at £98.29 per
head. The Council has improved its relative unit cost score overall and under the Housing Services expenditure area.
Unit
Cost
(£)

Unit Cost
Score

9,681 98,496

98.29

Very Low

TOTAL HOUSING SERVICES (GFRA ONLY) (RO Bal) / Population

492 98,496

5.00

Very Low

TOTAL CULTURAL & RELATED SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

1,943 98,496

19.73

Average

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL & REGULATORY SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

3,650 98,496

37.06

Average

890 98,496

9.04

Low

2,891 98,496

29.35

Low

2017/2018
Staffordshire Moorlands

Page 33

TOTAL SERVICE NET EXPENDITURE (RO Bal) / Population

TOTAL PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

TOTAL CENTRAL SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

(£000s)

Unit

Financial challenges and opportunities
Set out below are some of the more significant developments which have a potential impact on the financial position of the Authority.
Changes to Local Government Finance
The paragraphs below detail any changes or proposed changes to local government financing which have had or may have a significant impact
on the Council’s future financial position.

Page 34

Revenue Support Grant - The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government presented the Local Government finance settlement
2016/17 to the House of Commons on 17th December 2015. This was made in the context of the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement / Spending
Review and included a four year settlement offer to Authorities for Revenue Support Grant (the Local Government core grant) which
confirmed the phasing out of the grant by 2020. The Council accepted this and the financial impact has been included in the Council’s MTFP,
consequently 2018/19 was the final year of revenue support grant funding for the Council.
Business Rates – As part of the current Business Rates Retention system, authorities are able to retain a 50% proportion of any growth in
business rates over and above a centrally established baseline. The Council’s proportion is further increased by participation in the
Staffordshire Business Rates pool, which removes the 50% ‘growth levy’ payable to Government.
In October 2015, the Government announced a forthcoming package of reforms to the Business Rates Retention System including a move to
local government retaining 100% of the rates that they received with an end to Revenue Support Grant (as discussed above). This has
subsequently been revised to a 75% retention scheme, and during the year, Government invited Authorities to make an application to ‘pilot’
the 75% scheme in 2019/20. Staffordshire Authorities were successful in being named as a pilot for 2019/20 – which will generate a forecast
windfall of £200,000 in 2019/20 which has been built into the MTFP.
Uncertainly remains around how the new system will be phased in and in what form – the approved pilots being trialled around the Country
will support the Government in forming the final model. Therefore, no financial assumptions based on the new system have been included
with the Council’s financial plans after 2019/20 at this stage - these will be fed into the plans once we have more certainty around how the
system will operate.

There is also a risk that the new system may revisit the original ‘baseline funding level’ for Authorities – which is the amount retained by
Authorities based on assessment of the need taking into account a number of factors. Any review may favour Authorities with Adult Social
Care and Children Services, where there is national recognition of financial pressures, to the detriment of District Councils.
Council Tax - The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition of capping. However the Council’s ability to
increase Council Tax by more than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. The threshold was increased to 2.99% from 1st April 2018 (to
better reflect CPI), and a Council Tax increase of 2.9% was applied by the Council for 2018/19. A Council Tax increase of 2.9% has also been
applied in 2019/20.
New Homes Bonus - Proposals were presented to amend the current New Homes Bonus settlement which was a significant source of income
to the Authority. The main changes to the scheme which came into effect from 1st April 2017 were incorporated into the MTFP, these include:•

Page 35

•

The reduction in the number of years for which the Bonus is paid from the current 6 years to 5 years in 2017/18; to be followed by a
further reduction to 4 years in 2018/19;
The removal of New Homes Bonus paid on development below a 0.4% baseline (of the overall tax base).

These changes have significantly impacted on the amount of income the Authority gains from New Homes Bonus.
The settlement announcement in December 2018 confirmed no further adjustments to the scheme in
2019/20. The announcement did, however, point out that 2019/20 represents the final year of funding
agreed through the 2015 Spending Review and it is the Government’s intention to explore how to
incentivise housing growth most effectively. There is, therefore, a risk that the system may change
fundamentally during the life of the MTFP. Given the small amount of benefit SMDC now gains from the
current arrangements, it is entirely possible that any such changes may turn out to be positive for the
Council. There will be a period of consultation on any change prior to a new system being implemented.
Social Housing - The Government announced in July 2015 far reaching legislative and financial changes
for the social housing sector. One of the most significant announcements being the reduction in social
housing rents by 1% per annum from April 2016 for 4 years (2019/20 being the last year). The
Government announced that from 2020/21, Authorities will be allowed to increase rents from 2020/21 by CPI +1%.

This has significantly impacted on the affordability of the Ascent business plan (the joint venture company established by the Council and Your
Housing Group Limited) to deliver affordable housing across the District. Consequently, forecast revenue receipts have been revised to account
for the reduction in rental income and as a result a number of strategic options are currently being considered for the future of Ascent, with
any changes - which may potentially involve the dissolution of Ascent - expected to take place during 2019/20.
Impact of Brexit
At this stage it is impossible to predict the impact of the Brexit process on the Authority’s finances and financial planning. It has the potential
to influence a number of local and national economic drivers such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation of assets and liabilities (for example
the Council’s property portfolio and pension liability) and the demand for and funding of services.

Page 36

Currently the timing and direction of Brexit’s influence on these areas is a matter of debate. To give an idea of the potential financial
consequences, the table below quantifies the impact on the Authority’s 2018/19 budget had there been a 1% change in its key economic
drivers.
Risk item

Impact on MTFP

1 % change in inflation

150,000

Risk Item
1 % change in interest rates

Impact on MTFP
135,000

Brexit will also have implications on specific project funding bids which have in the past been submitted to European established bodies, it is
unclear what, if any, mechanism will replace this. The overall wider impact and any specific changes to Local Government finance will be
further assessed within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.
Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme
2017-18 was the first year of the Council’s new 4-year Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme, which targets £3.1m in financial savings by
31st March 2021 to offset the forecast budget shortfall and ensure the Council is financially stable. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
was developed and presented as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan to Full Council in February 2017.
The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy aims to both reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more of a
priority as the Council moves towards being self-financing and no longer heavily reliant on direct Government funding such as the Revenue
Support Grant. The Strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service delivery. It is also intended that

the Strategy is a tool to enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out in the
Corporate Plan.
The Efficiency Programme is focused on five areas:-

Page 37

•

Major Procurements - there is the opportunity to focus attention on a number of large service functions which are currently provided by
an external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of
these services with proper consideration of the current financial constraints. The contract commitments have sometimes restricted the
opportunity to align services across the Alliance with High Peak. The individual projects will focus on Waste Collection & Environmental
Services, Leisure Management and Facilities Management.

•

Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in
order to allow for the necessary capital investment.

•

Growth – development of a clear focus on housing and economic growth based upon the established Local Plan.

•

Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of
income.

•

Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, non-statutory
services, and channel shift (reducing the need for personal contact by providing technology to access services).

The delivery of efficiency and rationalisation projects is monitored by the Transformation Board made up of senior managers; a Director is
allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business case appraisal is completed for each project.
The efficiency target for 2018/19 was set at £830,000; however, due to slippage in the delivery of some of the projects, there was a shortfall of
£422,970 against target. As part of the MTFP, a review was undertaken to assess the timing and estimated value of future savings based on the
current programme. The table below shows the projected re-profiled Efficiency Programme:-

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

TOTAL

£

£

£

£

£

£

-

3,141,000

Original Programme

661,000

830,000

475,000 1,175,000

Amended Programme

661,000

395,000

935,000

702,000

448,000

3,141,000

(435,000)*

460,000

(473,000)

448,000

-

Variance

-

*shortfall estimated as at February 2019

Consequently, the Efficiency Plan has been extended by one year to reflect the anticipated timing of savings materialising.

Page 38

The savings achieved in 2018/19 primarily relate to additional income from car parking and new homes bonus, savings from procurement
activity and a reduction in printing and postage costs. Additionally, a number of vacant staff posts have been reviewed (in line with the service
review process and as a result of other efficiency projects) which have contributed to the overall efficiency programme.
Continued progression against the efficiency programme is dependent on achieving significant savings as a result of the alternative delivery
model for Waste, Streets and Parks via the transfer of services to trading company Alliance Environment Services, as well as a review of leisure
provision. There are also significant income generation targets focusing on housing and economic growth, linked to the approval of the Local
Plan.

Chapter 3: Our Vision
Staffordshire Moorlands’ 4-year Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s Vision for 2015 to 2019 – achieving excellence in the delivery of high
quality services that meet the needs and aspirations of our communities – and is underpinned by four aims:
 Aim One: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work – measured through
an increased supply of quality affordable housing, improved health, and improved community safety. Our key priorities are:

Page 39



An effective relationship with strategic partners



Develop a positive relationship with communities



Increased supply of good quality affordable homes



Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV



Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist housing
 Ensure the Council is compliant with the requirements of the new Homelessness Reduction Act
 Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money
improvements around Housing Benefit processing
 Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations
 Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners to ensure an effective partnership with central government
 Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme, that partner service provision, particularly health provision for the elderly, is
effective
 Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility provision being achieved by
other councils; in order to achieve improved health and value for money outcomes for the Staffs Moorlands

 Aim Two: To meet financial challenges and provide value for money – measured through a balanced and sustainable
medium term financial position, value for money services and high levels of resident and customer satisfaction. Our key priorities are:


Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money



Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and
provided “right first time”



A high performing and well motivated workforce



More effective use of Council assets

Page 40

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Deliver the Channel Shift Programme
 Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit across Staffs Moorlands in 2018 in order to help
ensure a smooth transition to the new system
 Continue to embed good information management practices through the ASSURED Framework
 Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
 Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of public estate, and ensure adequate facilities management
arrangements are in place

 Aim Three: To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages – measured
through sustainable towns and rural communities and increased economic growth. Our key priorities are:


Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises



Flourishing town centres that support the local economy



Encourage and develop tourism



High quality development and building control with an “open for business approach”

Page 41

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Support the development of the former Churnet Works site in Leek
 Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for planning application processing
 Submit the Draft Local Plan to the Planning Inspector by the end of June 2018
 Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership with Biddulph Town Council
 Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links
 Develop and implement plans to extend the public market operations
 Develop a Master Plan for the Leek Mill Quarter

 Aim Four: To protect and improve the environment – measured through high recycling rates, quality parks and open spaces,
and clean streets. Our key priorities are:

Page 42



Effective recycling and waste management



Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health



Promote environmentally sustainable policies and practices



Provision of quality parks and open spaces



Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Successfully deliver Phases 2 and 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint venture company, to
deliver waste, streets and grounds maintenance services on behalf of the Council in order to achieve improved performance and value
for money outcomes
 Make improvements to the Tean Road Recreation ground in Cheadle
 Establish a developer open space contributions plan
 Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of country parks
 Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with Heritage Lottery Fund support
 Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and associated costs (through the Asset Management Plan)

Chapter 4: Demonstrating value for money - our performance and how we compare
At the close of 2018/19 the Council had achieved 79% of its key performance indicator targets for the year (a 3% improvement on the previous
year) and had maintained or improved performance levels in 63% of these measures (down from 75% last year).

2018/19 Targets

2018/19 Trends
100%
80%
Target Met
Target Not Met

60%

45%

40%

37%
18%

Page 43

20%
0%
Better

Weaker

No Change

The service areas which fell short of target include housing benefits processing, town centre vacancy rates, invoice processing, and estimated
recycling rates.
For those measures that fell below the target set for the year we have developed actions for improvement, where feasible, as part of our
performance reporting to senior managers and members.

Aim 1: A safer and healthier environment
Delivering on our housing targets:



Benefits processing times for new claims
Benefits processing times for changes of circumstance
Households in temporary accommodation
Homelessness prevention
Housing Benefits processing – accuracy rates

Page 44

2017/18 benchmarking evidences that within the West Midlands region, Staffs Moorlands’ performance in determining new Housing Benefit
claims was still the 6th fastest (out of 19 councils) at 19 days. The relative position of the Council’s 2018/19 result of 22 days will not be known
until the national results are made available later this year. The Council’s costs are now the 4th lowest in the region, having reduced by 27%
over the period in question. The correlation charts in Appendix A detail the regional performances and identify those councils with lower costs.
The number of households in temporary accommodation has increased from 5 to 11 from 2009 to 2018 but remains relatively low.
Contextual Measures:
 83% of benefit overpayments were recovered
 5 affordable homes came on line in 2017/18
 308 homes stood empty for more than two years
 21% (7 out of 34) of housing register applicants in priority need have been waiting in excess of 6 months
 3 landlords are signed up to the Landlord Accreditation Scheme (two new additions were offset by two sold properties)

Delivering on community safety:
Benchmarking confirms that the Staffs Moorlands area enjoys relatively low crime levels (the second lowest in the comparator group) but the
Council’s spend on CCTV is the 10th highest (reduced from the 7th highest last) in the West Midlands comparison group. A CCTV review project
is already underway
Contextual Measures:
 No data around the use of CCTV in crime detection had been provided and this indicator is suggested for removal by the Service

Delivering on our leisure targets:



-

£50,000 in external funding awarded to help support the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
Number of new sports participation programmes created in priority areas
Number of voluntary clubs/organisations supported with funding applications
Number of new volunteering programmes created in priority areas

2017/18 benchmarking evidences that relative spend by Staffs Moorlands on the provision of sports and recreation is higher than the national
average at £7.22 per head of population. The Council’s total expenditure on sport and recreation facilities is ranked 98th out of 200 councils
nationally at £722,000, and has jumped 16 places due to increased costs compared to last year. The Council has now extended its current
contract with its leisure partners and savings are expected over the life of the contract. The wider health outcomes within the Staffs Moorlands
also need to be considered as the Council implements its sport and physical activity strategy.

Page 45

Contextual Measures:
 33.3% of the local population are ‘inactive’ (April 2019 Active Lives Survey)
 10.8% of the local population volunteer in sports clubs (April 2019 Active Lives Survey)

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2018/19 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim One.

Priority Action
Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme,
that partner service provision, particularly health
provision for the elderly, is effective

Page 46

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high
performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying
value for money improvements for Housing Benefit
processing
Ensure the Council is compliant with the requirements of
the new Homelessness Reduction Act
Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity
strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility
provision being achieved by other councils; in order to
achieve improved health and value for money outcomes
Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement
the agreed recommendations
Develop a strategy for further development of affordable
and specialist housing
Work with Staffordshire County Council and other
partners to ensure an effective partnership with central
government

Status Commentary – March

The Health O&S Panel met on the 13th February 2019.
The Panel heard detailed accounts of life with ME and how the illness
debilitated patients. The representatives advised members that they
had set up an informal group which met at Meerbrook Village Hall
which gave the opportunity for patients and their carers to share
information and experiences.
‘Changes Health and Wellbeing’ provided the Panel with an overview
of the services provided. The Panel received a presentation on the
Future of Local Health Services in Northern Staffordshire and
members gave their opinions and feedback to the North Staffordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group Officers.
Report received and sent to AMT for approval for completion of this
action – May 2019 Meeting.
Action Completed.
Contract extension documentation is expected to be signed off on 29/4/19.

The CCTV project is approaching the final stages. The next recommendations
from the consultants have been received. Notice has been given with effect
from 01/07/2019.

Continuing to review options for the future of Ascent.
Links to strategic partnerships project above.

Aim 2: Meeting financial challenges and providing value for money
Delivering on our effective use of resources targets:







Council tax and business rates collection
Media releases take up and social media followers
Internal audit recommendations implemented on time
Sundry debt reduction
On-contract spend
Invoices paid on time
Efficiency savings met
Procurement activity on forward plan
Budget variance (Q3)

Page 47

2017/18 benchmarking again reveals that Staffs Moorlands had the 6th highest Council Tax collection rate in the region at 98.6% (49th highest
nationally – dropped by 8 places) and is relatively low cost with a spend of £237,000 (36th lowest out of 200 councils nationally). Performance
in collecting Business Rates has dropped from being amongst the top 40% of councils nationally to the middle 20% with a reduced collection
rate of 98.54%. The limited benchmarking material on complaints levels indicates that we have low levels of ombudsman complaints but the
picture is less clear for general complaints. A new system for managing and recording complaints went live in April 2018 and has seen a
reduction in the number of complaints received and a reduction in repeat issues.
Contextual Measures:
 370 retweets on Twitter
 Income generated equates to 47% of the net budget (2017/18)
 20m in external funding levered (2017/18)

Delivering on our customer access and right first time targets:
- Website assessment through Socitm’s Better Connected survey
 Complaints responded to within 10 days
 Repeat complaints

 Channel shift contacts (phone, face to face and web)
 FOI requests dealt with on time
Contextual Measures:
 24% of FOI requests were diverted to the Council’s website / publication scheme (up from 10% last year)
 118 complaints were received during 2018/19, a 38% reduction on the previous year
 The cost of handling FOI requests was estimated at £27,000
 94% of customers were satisfied with the service received

Delivering on our high performing and well motivated workforce targets:
Page 48



-

Sickness absence per FTE
Workplace accidents
Reportable / lost time workplace accidents
Appraisals completed

Most appraisals have been completed and the process is embedded amongst most teams. Some slippage has occurred in a small number of
teams who are now catching up. Our overall accident levels decreased last year and two of the four lost time accidents were non-work related.
Contextual Measures:
 We received 82 compliments last year
 Staff turnover stood at 9.2% roughly in line with the previous year

Delivering on our effective use of assets targets:
 Council-owned business units that are occupied
 IT network and system availability

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2018/19 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Two.

Priority Action
Deliver the Channel Shift Programme

Page 49

Provide advice and support for residents
affected by the rollout of Universal Credit
across Staffordshire Moorlands in 2018 in
order to help ensure a smooth transition
to the new system
Continue to embed good information
management practices through the
ASSURED framework

Develop and implement a plan to identify
new and innovative ways of generating
income

Status Commentary – March
The Digital Strategy is currently under review.
E billing will commence following year end.
The environmental reporting app was looked at as part of the CGI review. This will be
included in the new digital programme going forward, the work will be prioritized.
Phase 1 has been completed and is now business as usual.

The Assured framework is regularly publicised via Keeping You Informed and staff are
encouraged to report data breaches. The GDPR action plan is monitored through the
Information Governance Group.
A number of training sessions have taken place to help key staff comply with GDPR,
with further sessions planned for staff requiring in depth training. The online training
package has been completed and is being rolled out to all staff on a team by team
basis from Q1 2019-20.
Information Asset Registers are complete and have being reviewed by audit.
Protective Marking briefing sessions are taking place with teams as required.
Our approach to Data Protection Impact Assessments has been reviewed following
training and has been integrated into procurement and project management
processes.
A target has been included as part of the new efficiency and rationalisation strategy
2017/18 – 20/21. Updates for various streams:
Commercial properties- Project now closed as business as usual; the finalized report is
being implemented. A delegated report is to be written for rental on the community
unit.
Fees and charges- Next review for 2019/20 budget setting/MTFP. Cash up against
efficiency target to be undertaken during 2018/19.
Advertising/Sponsorship -The current status being reviewed and a formal project
board is being established. A new policy is to be written and adopted.

Priority Action

Page 50

Refresh and implement the Asset
Management Plan, including a review of
public estate, and ensure adequate
facilities management arrangements are
in place

Status Commentary – March

Affordable Housing - Continuing to review options for the future of Ascent.
Empty Homes- North Staffordshire rent to buy scheme, purchase and repair scheme
with EPIC housing association:
- an update report has been provided to the portfolio holder
- empty properties have been targeted- further letters have been sent to empty
property owners highlighting the scheme
- 1 completion and 2 sales are proceeding with the solicitors, 3 further property offers
being negotiated.
Facilities Management: An agreement to extend has been made with DCC with 3
months notice, a meeting was held at the beginning of April. We have received a
quote from Kier regarding the condition surveys proposal.
Corporate and other relevant policies have been fed through to CIPFA for the Asset
Management Plan.
Team members have met with CIPFA regarding the compliance audit and the report
has been received. A meeting took place at the beginning of February with CIPFA to
review the current status. A system demonstration has been arranged for the end of
April with the supplier.

Aim 3: To support economic development and regeneration
Delivering on our encouraging business start-ups objective:
Benchmarking reveals that our business formation rate was the lowest in the County at 8.69%, and the second
lowest in the region in 2017. The rate has been largely in decline since 2013, but is still higher than the 2010 level.
Employment rates are above the national average and long term unemployment at 1.05% puts Staffs Moorlands
amongst the lowest 20% of councils nationally.
Contextual Measures:
 4120 enterprises are operating within the Staffs Moorlands, a reduction of 45 on the previous year
 43 businesses were supported through the Growth Fund, down from 97 the year before

Page 51

Delivering on our flourishing town centres targets:
-

The district had an average town centre vacancy rate of 14.9% - Leek 11.6%, Cheadle 20.6%, and Biddulph 17%. National vacancy rates
stand at 10.2%.

New housing in Cheadle and Biddulph as part of the Local Plan delivery will support increased footfall and therefore increased shop occupancy
levels. A bid to the Future High Street Fund has been made in order to help encourage greater diversity on Cheadle High Street.

Delivering on our promoting tourism objective:
Visitors to the Staffs Moorlands added £277m of spend to the local economy according to the latest research reports and local business
benefited from over 1.5m overnight stays. Our Tourism pages had over 4,000 hits on the website and the Council’s spend on Tourism is
amongst the top 20% of councils nationally at £206,000.

Delivering on our high quality development and building control targets:
Contextual Measures:
 £745 in costs were awarded against the Council last year for planning appeals
 252 customers attended the new Planning Surgeries






-

Planning appeals successfully defended
Priority 1 planning enforcement cases visited within 24hours
Planning enforcement cases were resolved in 13 weeks
Major, minor and other planning applications determined in time
Planning applications with pre-app enquiries
Agent Satisfaction with the planning application process

2017/18 benchmarking results across the West Midlands evidences that for the period in question the Council achieved above average
performance rates for major (100%), minor and other planning application processing at below average costs (moved from 7th to 12th highest
of 19 councils, with reduced spend from £369k to £180k). Performance has improved and costs have reduced and the examples of other
councils achieving better determination rates at lower costs have been investigated and have been found to be based upon increased feeincome opportunities linked to local growth rather than cost of service.

Page 52

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2018/19 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Three.

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Undertake detailed process benchmarking
with high performing / low cost councils
with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for Planning application
processing

Report received and sent to AMT for approval for completion of this action – May
2019 Meeting.

Implement the town deal in Biddulph in
partnership with Biddulph Town Council

Draft stage-2 report completed with input from the landowners, demand analysis
and highways with regard to infrastructure requirements and preferred junctions. A
meeting has been held to review options and materials for the consultation event
and there was an information drop in session held at the beginning of February.

Page 53

Support the development of Cornhill and
improved rail links
Develop and implement plans to extend
the public market operations
Develop a master plan for the Leek Mill
Quarter
Support the development of the former
Churnet Works site in Leek
Submit the Draft Local Plan to the
Planning Inspector by the end of June
2018

Proposed consultation was pushed back by 4 weeks due to delays in receiving the
local plan examination feedback on site. This will probably have an overall impact
of approximately 2 weeks.
Joint bid venture between SMDC and the landowner and developer of an adjacent
site to deliver both Cornhill West (outline pp) and Cornhill East (SMDC ownership)
was submitted to LGF in October. The bid submitted to LGF was not successful, final
outcome from LEP awaited.
The work to the Butter Market has been completed and was launched in March.
CityB- legal agreements and licences are to be reviewed.
The Leek Mill Quarter masterplan is not being commissioned at present as the sale
of the Social Services building and the new ownership of London Mill means that
the private sector will lead on this.
There are discussions with the developer regarding the freehold price and the
timescale has slipped due to the on-going negotiations. The planning application
will not be submitted by the developer until the price has been agreed.
Action Complete.

Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment
Delivering on our effective recycling and waste management targets:
- % of household waste recycled (estimate)
 Kg of residual household waste (estimate)
 Missed Bins

Regional benchmarking for 2017/18 places Staffs Moorlands amongst the highest performing but also
highest cost authorities in the West Midlands for waste and recycling. We have the lowest residual waste
rates in the region and the second highest recycling rates but also the highest waste collection costs.
Nationally our waste collection costs are amongst the top 20% of councils.

Delivering on our high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health targets:
Page 54










Environmental Fixed Penalty Notices issued and enviro-crime enforcements undertaken
Street cleanliness
Regulatory inspections
High risk premises inspections
Permitted processes inspections
Food premises that are broadly compliant with Food Standards Agency standards
Fly-tipping incidents
Community clean-up campaigns

Fly-tipping has shown a significant reduction on last year with 70 fewer incidents. The Council’s spend on public conveniences remains the
second highest across the regional comparator group at £289,000. Food hygiene in establishments across the District looks healthy with only
21 premises achieving 0-2 stars and 675 premises achieving 3 stars or above.

Delivering on our quality parks and open spaces targets:
 Green Flag maintained for Ladderedge Country Park

Council spend on parks and open spaces has reduced from £962,000 to £862,000 and is now ranked 11th highest in the region at but 93rd
highest nationally.

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2018/19 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Four.

Priority Action
Successfully deliver Phases 2 and 3 of the
transfer of services to Alliance
Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint
venture company, to deliver waste, streets
and ground maintenance services on behalf
of the Council in order to achieve improved
performance and value for money
outcomes.
Establish a developer open space
contributions plan

Page 55

Make Improvements to the Tean Road
Recreation ground in Cheadle
Identify and implement an approach to
reduce the cost of country parks

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park
with Heritage Lottery Fund support

Status

Commentary – March
Awaiting confirmation of phase 3 go live date in order for the consultation process
to commence.

An Open Space Audit and Playing Pitch Strategy have been completed and forms
part of a wider Developer Contributions SPD (Supplementary Planning Document).
The intention is to contract this work out to a consultant and the draft specification
is now being developed. The tender will be advertised in January 2019 with a view
to an appointment being made in February. Following consultation, the SPD should
be adopted by the end of 2019.
The concreting on the skate park will be completed at the beginning of April;
reinstatement works will start the following week. The Rospa visit took place Mon
01/04/2019 to sign the project off. Turfing reinstatement works are being sought
directly by Cheadle TC as our project specification only included grass seeding.
SOTCC have not progressed the freehold transfer of Wetley Moor to SMDC, having
not obtained member approval. In addition they have not provided an up to date
position in regard to the tenancy situation without which SWT are not prepared to
progress the transfer. The project has now stalled as officers are unable to obtain a
response from SOTCC regarding the time frame for this to occur. Affected
employees have been advised.
Stage 3 requirements are to be included in a full project review. The play area will
need a new report as the direction has changed from the original. Planning
permission has been granted for the floodlights at the skate park and as a result we
have received confirmation of the Sport England funding (£50k). We await
confirmation of the date for the installation works. A new path has also been
installed to the skate park.

Priority Action

Reduce the Council’s energy consumption
and associated costs (through the Asset
Management Plan)

Status

Commentary – March

Corporate and other relevant policies have been fed through to CIPFA for the Asset
Management Plan.
Team members have met with CIPFA regarding the compliance audit and the report
has been received. A meeting took place in February with CIPFA to review the
current status.
A system demonstration has been arranged at the end of April with the supplier.

Page 56

Chapter 5: Our Future Priorities 2019-2020
2018/19 was the final year of the 2015-2019 Corporate Plan. A new Corporate Plan will be developed, reflecting the aspirations of members
for the District, during the summer with publication later this year. Some of last year’s actions may remain relevant and have been retained
during the transitional period as we move to a new Plan for 2019-2023.

Corporate Plan Aim

Page 57

Aim 1: Increased supply of
good quality affordable
homes
Aim 1: Effective support of
community safety
arrangements
Aim 1: Effective
relationship with strategic
partners
Aim 1: Provision of high
quality leisure facilities
Aim 2: Services easily
available and provided right
first time
Aim 2: Effective use of
resources to ensure value
for money

Aim 3: Encourage business
start-ups and enterprise

Rolled forward Actions / Projects

New Priority Actions

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist
housing

To be determined as part of the
2019-2013 Corporate Plan

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed
recommendations.
Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners to
ensure an effective partnership with central government
• Help to ensure that partner service provision, particularly health
provision for the elderly, is effective through the Council’s scrutiny
work programme
Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity strategy and carry
out research into nil cost facility provision being achieved by other
councils; in order to achieve improved health and value for money
outcomes for the Staffs Moorlands
Deliver the Channel Shift Programme
•

•

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways
of generating income
• Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a
review of public estate, and ensure adequate facilities
management arrangements are in place
• Continue to embed good information management practices
through the ASSURED Framework
Support the development of the former Churnet Works site in Leek

Corporate Plan Aim
Aim 3: High quality
development control
Aim 3: Flourishing town
centres
Aim 3: Flourishing town
centres
Aim 4: Effective recycling
and waste management

Page 58

Aim 4: Provision of quality
parks and open spaces
Aim 4: Promote
environmentally
sustainable policies and
practices

Rolled forward Actions / Projects
Adoption of the Local Plan

Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership with Biddulph Town
Council
Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links
•

Develop and implement plans to extend the public market
operations
• Develop a Master Plan for the Leek Mill Quarter
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance
Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint venture company, to deliver
waste, streets and grounds maintenance services on behalf of the Council
in order to achieve improved performance and value for money outcomes
• Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of country
parks
• Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with HLF support
Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and associated costs (through
the Asset Management Plan)

References
The benchmarking data used within this Report has been drawn from the following sites:
1. Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics online tool
2. Grant Thornton’s CFO Insights online tool
3. The LGA’s benchmarking tool – LG Inform

New Priority Actions

Appendix A – Aim 1: a safer and healthier environment for our communities
Increased supply of good quality affordable homes - The following chart shows the correlation between
Housing Benefit costs and New Claims average speed of processing against the West Midlands Non- Metropolitan group
2017-18. In 2017-18 costs reduced from £422k to £307k, now the 4th lowest in the region and processing times have
improved slightly from 20 to 19 days. North Warwickshire processes new claims faster at a similar cost.

Page 59

This chart shows the correlation between Housing benefit costs and Change in Circumstances average speed of processing
against the group. Processing times have stayed the same at 7 days. North Warwickshire processes changes faster and at a
similar cost, Malvern Hills process at a similar rate but at a lower cost.

Page 60

This time series shows changes in the number of households in temporary accommodation in Staffordshire Moorlands
since 2009. Overall there has been an increase of 120% between Mar 2009-Mar 2018 (2009: 5 households, 2018: 11
households) but the figure remains relatively low.

Page 61

Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV - The chart below shows the cost
of CCTV compared to the total number of crimes (percentile) for Staffordshire Moorlands against the West Midlands
group 2017-18. Costs are quite low at £154,000 (10th lowest out of a group of 17) and the total number of crimes are low
at 4,671 (10th lowest out of a group of 11). North Warwickshire spent less on CCTV and has fewer crimes.

Page 62

Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health - This map
shows which quintile Staffordshire Moorlands falls into for sport and recreational facilities (including golf) (RO) £000’s for
all English districts in 2017-18. Compared to the West Midlands Group, Staffordshire Moorlands is ranked 8th highest
spend out of 19.

Page 63

This bar chart shows the proportion of the population in Staffordshire Moorlands who participate in 150+ minutes of
exercise per week compared to other council areas in Staffordshire (May 17/18 Sport England). Staffordshire Moorlands
had 57.8% of its residents participating in 150+ minutes of exercise per week, compared to the Staffs average of 58.7%.

Page 64

This map shows spend per head of population on sports and recreation facilities for all English districts (RO, £/head 201718) and shows that Staffordshire Moorlands sit in the top 40% for unit spend on sports and recreational facilities at £7.33
per head.

Page 65

The following chart shows the correlation between leisure facilities total income and gross expenditure against the context
of all English districts 2017-18 and shows Staffs Moorlands as having very low income and mid gross expenditure. The
authorities in the bottom right quadrant have very high incomes, and low gross expenditure- they would be described as
highly efficient in this service and include for example Mole Valley, Hinckley and Bosworth and Wyre Forest

Page 66

Appendix B – Aim 2: Meet Financial Challenges & Provide Value for Money
Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money - The map below shows that
Staffordshire Moorlands has a high rate of Council Tax collection at 98.6%; again sitting within the top 40% of districts
nationally. The cost of Council Tax Collection is low compared to the group, 165th lowest out of 201 areas at £237,000 but
represents an increase from £195,000 in 2016-17.

Page 67

This map shows Non Domestic Tax collection rates across all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands has a medium rate
of collection at 98.54%, sitting within the mid 20% of districts nationally. In 2016/17, the rate of 98.76% sat in the top 40%.

Page 68

Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and
provided ‘right first time’ - The table below has been produced using LG Inform and shows the number of formal
complaints from 2017/18 Q1 to 2017/18 Q4 for Staffordshire Moorlands and Staffordshire Moorlands CIPFA nearest
neighbours.

Page 69

This map shows the total number of Ombudsman complaints received by English Districts in 2017-18. The Staffordshire
Moorlands score of 12 is low compared to the national context, sitting just within the bottom 40% of districts.

Page 70

A high performing and well motivated workforce - The chart below compares Staffordshire Moorlands to
CIPFA nearest neighbours and is generated using LG Inform tools. It shows the average number of days lost to sickness for
each individual quarter during 2017-18. The figure for the year was 9 days against a target of 9 days.

Page 71

Appendix C – Aim 3: a strong economy by supporting further regeneration
Encourage business start-ups and enterprises - This time series demonstrates changes in business formation
rate from 2010-2017. The rate of new businesses as a proportion of total business stock had increased from 7.53% in 2010
to 11.46% in 2013 but has fallen to 8.69% in 2017.

Page 72

This bar chart shows the Staffordshire Moorlands new business formation rate % for 2017 compared to other authorities
in the area.

Page 73

Encourage and develop tourism - This map shows the total spend on tourism (RO £000’s 2017-18) across all
English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands sits in the top quintile of districts nationally, spending £206,000 on tourism.

Page 74

High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach - This scatter
chart shows the relationship between the development control spend and major applications processed within 13 weeks
compared with West Midlands Non-Metropolitan districts. In 2017-18, Staffordshire Moorlands processed 100% of major
applications within target times, an improvement from 96% in 2016-17. Development control costs have reduced from
£369k £180k and the ranking within the group has improved from 7th to 12th.

Page 75

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % minor application processed within 8
weeks compared with the group for the same period. In 2017-18, Staffordshire Moorlands processed 90% of minor
applications within target times, compared to 88% in 2016-17. Tamworth, Warwick, East Staffordshire and Wychavon for
example are processing more applications to target at a lower cost.

Page 76

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % ‘other’ application processed within 8
weeks compared with the West Midlands group. In 2017-18, Staffordshire Moorlands processed 94% of ‘other’
applications within target times, compared to 92% in 2016-17. Tamworth, East Staffordshire, Warwick and Wychavon for
example are processing more applications to target at a lower cost.

Page 77

The map below shows the spend on development control (RO) £000’s 2017-18 across all English districts. Staffordshire
Moorlands spent £180,000 on development control, which places it in the lowest 40% of all districts nationally.

Page 78

Appendix D – Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment
Effective recycling and waste management -

This line chart shows the proportion of household waste that is

sent for reuse, recycling or composting from 2009-2017. Within Staffordshire Moorlands, the recycling rate has decreased
from 61.84% in 2009 to 56.04% in 2017.

Page 79

This scatter chart demonstrates the relationship between deprivation and the percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling or composting and shows that there is a weak negative correlation between deprivation and the recycling
rate in the context of all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands has a mid - deprivation score and a high recycling rate
within the national context.

Page 80

This bar chart shows the residual household waste per household in kilograms (2017-18) for Staffordshire Moorlands and
individual districts within Staffordshire. Compared to other districts, and Staffordshire as a whole, Staffordshire Moorlands
has the lowest amount of residual waste per household.

Page 81

The map shows the unit spend on Waste Collection (RO, £/dwelling 2017-18) across all English districts. Staffordshire
Moorlands has a very high unit spend at £55.86, falling into the top 20% nationally.

Page 82

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the waste collection RO (£000’s) and the kg of residual waste per
household. No other district in the West Midlands group has a lower amount of residual waste than Staffordshire
Moorlands but the costs are highest in the group. Stratford on Avon and Warwick has similar amounts of residual waste,
but at a much lower cost.

Page 83

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the waste collection RO (£000’s) and the % of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling or composting. Stratford on Avon and Warwick has a similar recycling rate but their costs are much lower.

Page 84

Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health - The table shows the
number of fly tipping incidents in 2017-18 compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the West Midlands Group. Compared to
the whole West Midlands group, Staffordshire Moorlands were ranked 15th lowest (out of 19) with 365 incidents, this compares
favourably to 2016-17 when they were ranked 14th lowest with 511 incidents.

Page 85

This chart shows the cost (in £ 000’s) of Public Conveniences (RO) compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the West
Midlands group in 2017-18. Staffordshire Moorlands have the 2nd highest spend in the group at £289,000, an increase compared
to £276,000 in 2016-17.

Page 86

Provision of quality parks and open spaces
This map shows the cost of open spaces (RO) £000’s 2017-18 across all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands are ranked 93rd
out of 200 areas at £892,000. In 2016-17 Staffordshire Moorlands were ranked 83rd at £962,000.

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2: Performance Targets 2019/20

Page 89
Staffordshire Moorlands Performance Framework 2019/20
1

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

a)22.34
b)10.52

a)18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

11

10

10

TBD

TDB

Objective: Increased supply of good quality affordable homes

Page 90

Housing Benefits Processing: Time taken to
process a) new claims b) change of
circumstances
Number of households in temporary
accommodation

Monthly
Monthly

a) 19.21
b) 6.74
10

The additional duties of the homeless reduction act have seen an increase in the use of TA.
We are aware that the MHCLG are looking to implement national performance targets for
reducing TA which will link to funding and it would be preferable to wait until these are known
before setting 2020 and onwards
NEW: % of cases resolved without progressing
Monthly
New
98.63%
95%
95%
TBD
TBD
to a full homeless case

% of active housing register applicants in
priority need (classes A and B) who have been
registered in excess of 6 months
Housing Benefits Processing: % of cases
determined correctly

We are aware that the MHCLG are looking to implement national performance targets for
prevention & relief duties which will link to funding and it would be preferable to wait until
these are known before setting 2020 and onwards
Annual
9.43%
20.58%
Establish
15%
15%
15%
new
Baseline
Annual
99.8%
99.81%
99.5%
99.5%
99.5%
99.5%

2

Measure

2017-18
2018-19
2018-19
Result
Result
Target
Objective: Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health
Level of external funding awarded to support
the physical activity and sport strategy and
number of bids

Reported

Quarterly

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

£75,000

£50k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£50k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£60k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£60k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£60k

Number of voluntary clubs/organisations
supported with funding applications

Annual

New

4

4

4 from 5

5

6

Number of new sports participation programmes
created in priority areas

Annual

New

5

4

5

6

7

Number of new volunteering programmes created
in priority areas

Annual

New

0

2

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

Page 91

We are still in the infancy of delivering programmes in the priority areas identified for each
council, and have been affected by staffing issues throughout the year; therefore we have not
been in a position to meet the targets set in 2018-19. By setting a baseline in 2019-20, it
would give the team time to refocus their efforts in the priority areas we have commenced
work, leading to the targets being reviewed for 2020-21.

3

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Objective: Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'
No. / % of interactions: a) phone b)
face to face c) web

Monthly

a) 38,972 39%
b) 23,587 24%
c) 37285 37%

a)41306 39%
b)24541 23%
c)39763 38%

a) 40%
b) 25%
c) 35%

a) 37% from
35%
b)23% from
20%
c) 40% from
45%

a)35% from
30%
b)20% from
15%
c)45% from
55%

a) 35%
b) 20%
c) 45%

Page 92

Slight change to % for 19/20 as we continue to roll out the facility to self serve across all service areas
Avoidable contact (number taken
from customer portal)

Annual

New

Not
available

Establish
New Baseline

TBD

TBD

TBD

EG4 adding facility to report on avoidable contact - available June 2019
Satisfaction with customer services
(Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual

Positive

93.75%

Establish
92%
92%
92%
New
Baseline
The PI will measure the average of the responses to 4 questions relating to ‘satisfaction with
customer services’

Complaint handling: % dealt with
within 10 working days

Monthly

98%

98%

97%

97%

97%

97%

Complaint handling: % of repeat
issues (compares previous month
only)

Monthly

4%

1%

5%

5%

5%

5%

4

Measure
FOI requests: % responded to within
statutory time frame and number of
requests
Website Quality: Socitm Better
Connected assessment

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Quarterly

99.09%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

Annual

3 Stars

3 stars

4 stars

4 stars

4 stars

4 stars

Objective: More effective use of Council assets
% & number of council owned
business units occupied

Annual

Page 93

IT- % network availability

84%
97%
92.1%
92.1%
92.1%
92.1%
(32/38)
(37/38)
(35/38)
(35/38)
(35/38)
(35/38)
We have a natural turnover of the industrial units. There will be an ongoing programme of
refurbishment when the units are empty so it is unlikely that we will continue at 97%. Anything over
90% occupancy is a very good rate in commercial property
Monthly
100%
100%
99%
99%
99%
99%

IT- % system availability

Monthly

100%

99.93%

99%

4.48 days

9 days

99%

99%

99%

Objective: A high performing and well motivated workforce
Average days sickness absence per
FTE (show split between short and
long term)

Monthly

9 days

7 days from 9 7 days from 9
days
days

7 days

Target lowered as 2018/19 result has exceeded existing target
Average days sickness absence per
FTE across the Alliance
% of Appraisals completed across the
workforce (of those due)
Number of a) workplace accidents and
b) RIDDOR reportable / Lost Time
(7days) accidents

Monthly

New

8.31 days

9 days

9 days

9 days

9 days

Annual

84%

66%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

a) 28 b) 5
Joint

a)23 b)4

a) <28
b) 0

a)<23
b) 0

TBD

TBD

5

Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Objective: Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money
Number & % of press releases taken
up in local media
Number of twitter followers
Number of Facebook followers

Annual

46 issued
48 issued
96% take up 92% take up
Quarterly
1576
1768

1675

Quarterly

400

319

689

90%

94% from
94% from
90%
90%
1875 from
1975 from
1775
1875
800 from 500 900 from 600

94%
2075
1000

Increased future targets as 2018/19 exceeded existing target

Page 94

Collection rates: Business rates

Monthly

98.54%

99.13%

98.1%

98.1%

98.2%

98.2%

Collection rates: Council Tax

Monthly

98.60%

98.66%

98.1%

98.1%

98.2%

98.2%

£110,422.5

£70,434.48

5%
reduction

5%
reduction

Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value of Quarterly
SD over 60 days old)

% of invoices paid in line with contract

2%
2% reduction
Reduction
(from 3%)
The sundry debt figure has significantly reduced over last two years, therefore an ongoing reduction
of 5% is more difficult to achieve
Monthly
96%
92%
96%
96%
96%
96%

Use of Contracts register - annual
contract spend as % of gross
expenditure budget

Quarterly

79%

87%

5%
2%
2%
2%
improvement improvement improvement improvement
to 17/18
to 18/19
to 19/20
to 20/21
(from 3%)
(from 3%)
Over achieved against 18/19. Out turn was +5% higher than target. 19/20+ reduced as we’re getting
to the point that we won’t be able to improve much more

% of procurement activity on the
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint
Alliance measure)

Quarterly

71%

64%

72%

72% from
75%

74% from
75%

Achieved 64% for 2018/19, have therefore reduced target to 72% for 2019-20.
6

75%

Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

% of internal audit recommendations
implemented within timescale

Quarterly

97.53%

97.39%

97%

97.5%

98%

98.5%

External Audit Opinion

Annual

Unqualified

Unqualified

Unqualified

Unqualified

Unqualified

% of corporate efficiency savings met

Annual

100%

Unqualified
(2017/18)
44.8% (Q3)

a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget

Annual

a) -7%
b) 7%

100% of
target
Net Budget
+/- 5%
variance

100% of
target
Net Budget
+/- 5%
variance

100% of
Target
Net Budget
+/- 5%
variance

100% of
target
Net Budget
+/- 5%
variance

a) 0.05%
u/spend Q3
b) 1.43% add
funding inc Q3

Page 95

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages
Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Leek 11.6%;
Cheadle 20.6%;
Biddulph 17%;
District Average
14.9%

<10%

< 13%
from
<10%

<10%

<10%

Objective: Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
% of empty town centre shops

Annual

Leek (7.9%),
Cheadle (14.3%),
Biddulph
(18.2%).
Average 11.5%

As we are 5% above national average at present, target is to reduce gap by 2% next year

7

Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Objective: High quality development and building control with an open for business approach
Planning processing times a) Majors b)
Minors c) Others

Monthly

Page 96

Annual

a)100%
b) 90%
c) 95%
12%

a)100%
b)92%
c)95%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

% of planning applications with preapplication enquiries
% of major developments allowed on Appeal

Monthly

New

0%

10%

10%

10%

10%

% of minor and other developments allowed
on appeal
Agent satisfaction with Planning Service
(amended survey)

Monthly

New

0.6%

10%

10%

10%

10%

Annual

78%

73%

80%

80%

80%

80%

% of planning enforcement cases resolved in
13 weeks

Annual

68%

75.9%

70%

80%

TBD

TBD

% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases
visited within 1 working day

Annual

100%

100%

90%

90%

90%

90%

8

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment
Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Objective: Effective recycling and waste management

Page 97

Recycling rates / Residual waste per
household

Quarterly

Missed bins per 100,000 collections (exc.
customer error and bad weather)

Monthly

a)56%
58.43%
59%
57.5% from
58% from
b)
364.47kg
375kg
59%
60%
380.6kg
365kg
360kg
2018-19 result is estimated as Q4 data has not been fully received.
44.66

31.46

40

38 from 39

36 from 38

58%
355kg

34

It is proposed that the calculation should also exclude blocked access as a result of road works
or parked cars as such issues are outside of the councils control. Hence the target has been
reviewed taking account of this change
Objective: Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per
annum

Quarterly

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

% of routine permitted process premises
inspected

Quarterly

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria

Annual

98%

98%

98%

98%

98%

98%

Number of fly tipping incidents collected by
the Council (exc. sec 46 waste)

Monthly

403

295

395

295 from
390

290 from
385

285

9

Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

This indicator records the no. of incidents reported to the council. Whilst enforcement activity
may discourage fly tipping behaviour, the number of incidents reported to us is outside of our
control. Continuous improvement is therefore difficult to achieve
Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type
(including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment)
a) number of warnings issued
b) number of fixed penalty notices issued
c) number of Community Protection Notices
issued
d) number of prosecutions

Page 98

Street and environmental cleanliness
inspection results (% achieving top grades for
cleanliness)

Monthly

NEW

a) 38
b)72
c)1
d) 0

a)35
a)remove
a)remove
a)remove
b)50
b)contextual b)contextual b)contextual
c)4
c)remove
c)remove
c)remove
d)contextual d)contextual d)contextual d)contextual

Remove a) and c) (see below). Fixed Penalty notices should be changed to a contextual
measure. It is really a measure of activity and a high or low figure could represent a good
outcome - the democratic and community service area’s annual report to council will provide
the wider context in which to understand the relevance of the actual figure.
Annual
96.4%
91.67%
88.5%
90% from
90%
90%
89%
A 90% target is more realistic and still challenges the Service Area to ensure that schedules are
in place and adhered to

Number of community clean-up campaigns

Annual

60

72

30

75 from 35

80 from 40

80

With ongoing support and existing campaigns this PI should continue to improve
Number of pest control contracts

Annual

50

52

10

52

54

56

58

Measure

Reported

2017-18
Result

2018-19
Result

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

Private water supplies - % of sampling
programme completed

Annual

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Pollution measures - air quality: %
compliance against national reporting
requirements in relation to air quality
Customer satisfaction with regulatory
services (environment)

Annual

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

N/a

No Survey
carried
out

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

TBD

1

1

1

1

1

1

2470
reams

2500
reams

2000
reams

2000
reams

2000
reams

Objective: Provision of quality parks and open spaces
Green Flag awards maintained

Annual

Objective: Promote environmentally sustainable policies and practices

Page 99

Paper consumption across the alliance

Monthly

2408
reams

11

Appendix 2: Contextual Performance Indicators 2019/20

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work
1. Housing Benefits processing: % of overpayments recovered
2. Landlord Accreditation Scheme - Numbers signed up to scheme

Page 100

3. Cost of CCTV per capita- delete
4. CCTV: a) no. of data downloads for the police and b)number of resolved offences due to CCTV- delete
5. Costs of leisure centre provision per households
6. External leverage from grants £ for £- delete
7. Number of voluntary groups supported
8. Levels of inactivity among local population
9. Number of volunteers within local sports clubs (Sport England’s Active Lives Survey)

12

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
1. The number of empty homes
2. Number of twitter re-tweets
3. % of FOI requests diverted to the website / publication scheme
4. The cost of dealing with FOI requests
5. Complaint handling: Number received

Page 101

6. Customer Feedback: Level of compliments
7. Staff Climate Survey
8. Staff turnover rate
9. % of income generated against net budget
10. External funding levered annually

13

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration
1. Number of affordable homes delivered
2. Local Plan Delivery: Number of completions for homes : sqft of employment space delivered
3. Number of businesses supported by the Growth Hub (fair proportion across partnership)
4. Number of enterprises operating in the area (considering business starts as well as deaths; as recorded through ONS stats)

Page 102

5. Cost to the Council per Market (Subsidy)
6. Visitor spend in the area
7. TICs online hits
8. Total tourist bed spaces
9. Total overnight stays (tourism)
10. Planning application processing costs
11. Costs awarded against the council from planning appeals
12. Number of attendees at Planning Surgeries

14

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment

Page 103

1.

Anti- Social behaviour: Number of prosecutions

2.

Cost per household of waste and recycling service

3.

Cost measures: public conveniences

4.

Cost of street cleansing service

5.

Cost measures: Environmental Health Service

6.

Number of premises in each of the 6 food hygiene star rating gradings (from 0 to 5)

7.

Cost of parks and open spaces per capita

8.

Net income per car parking space

9.

Parking PCNs issued and % collected

10.

% of car park spaces accredited with Park Mark

11.

No & % of disabled bays within car parks

15

Appendix 3: Deleted Performance Indicators 2019/20

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work
Performance Indicator
Homelessness: % of cases prevented

Reason for proposed deletion
Replaced in Q3 2018-19 with new more appropriate measure.

Cost of CCTV per capita

The CCTV investment is fixed so the PI should therefore be deleted (Council decision re CCTV).

CCTV: a) number of data downloads for the This is a measure of police requests rather than crime detection or prevention. Suggest instead
police and b) number of resolved offences that commentary on CCTV is included in the annual community safety report to council.
due to CCTV
External leverage from grants £ for £
It is proving difficult to get reliable information from partners.

Page 104

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
Performance Indicator
Reason for proposed deletion
Customer Service Excellence accreditation We are not proceeding with the formal accreditation and will be focusing on embedding the Ican
make a difference culture.
Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment
Performance Indicator
Reason for proposed deletion
Customer satisfaction with street
cleanliness
Customer satisfaction with public
toilets
Customer satisfaction with waste and
recycling
Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by
type (including behaviour adversely
affecting the environment)

Survey was not undertaken in December 2018 and there are no plans for citizen’s survey this year.
Survey was not undertaken in December 2018 and there are no plans for citizen’s survey this year.
Survey was not undertaken in December 2018 and there are no plans for citizen’s survey this year.
Democratic and Community Services will produce an annual report that will indicate the level of
activity and this information is provided regularly to Exec / cabinet.

16

a) number of warnings issued
c)Number of Community Protection
Notices issued

Page 105
17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
18 June 2019

TITLE:

Consideration of the submitted draft
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Wain - Portfolio Holder for
Planning, Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER:

Sarah Porru

WARDS INVOLVED:

Dane

Appendices Attached –
Appendix 1: Draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 2: Other submission documents, comprising the Consultation
Statement, the Basic Conditions Statement; Screening Opinions regarding
the need for Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations
Assessment and a determination statement.
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To receive and consider the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan submitted by
Leekfrith Parish Council and to approve publication of the Plan and
appointment of an Examiner.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Cabinet agree that:




the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan as set out at Appendix 1 of this
report is published for public consultation for a minimum of six weeks;
the Head of Regeneration is authorised to appoint an independent
examiner in consultation with the Portfolio holder, the Peak District National
Park Authority and Leekfrith Parish Council; and
following public consultation, the draft Plan and representations received
are submitted for independent examination.

Page 107

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Leekfrith Frith Parish Council has submitted its draft Neighbourhood Plan and
accompanying documents to the District Council and the Peak District National
Park Authority. Before the Plan can be taken forward for publication and
examination, the District Council is required to check that the submitted
Neighbourhood Plan has followed the proper legal process and that the plan
has met the legal requirements for consultation and publicity.

3.2

Leekfrith Parish Council carried out public consultation on the draft plan
between 31st January and 21st March 2018, prior to submitting the plan to the
two local planning authorities. A Consultation Statement at Appendix two sets
out an account of the consultation, providing details of people and
organisations consulted; how they were consulted; a summary of the main
issues and concerns raised; and a description of how the issues have been
addressed.

3.3

The Neighbourhood Plan is considered to have met the legal requirements for
consultation and publicity.

3.4

A Neighbourhood Plan must meet certain “basic conditions” before it can
proceed to referendum. These conditions are set out in paragraph 7.10 of this
report. A Basic Conditions Statement has been prepared by the Parish
Council and submitted with the Plan (included at Appendix 2) to demonstrate
how the draft Plan meets each of the basic conditions.

3.5

The Basic Conditions Statement includes opinions received from the
Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England that no further
assessment of the draft Plan is required in order for the plan to be compatible
with EU obligations for Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats
Regulations Assessment.

3.6

The District Council is also required to consider the draft Plan against statutory
requirements set out in paragraph 6 of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The requirements, and details of the
Neighbourhood Plan’s compliance, are set out from paragraph 7.13 of this
report.

3.7

Preparation and submission of the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is
considered to have followed the required legal process.

3.8

Since the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan area also falls within the local
planning authority area for the Peak District National Park (PDNP), the draft
neighbourhood plan is going through a similar consideration process via the
PDNP.

3.9

Should the District Council and the Peak Park be satisfied that the proposed
Neighbourhood Plan can be taken forward, the two authorities are required to
issue notification that the Plan has been received, publicise the draft
Neighbourhood Plan for a further minimum six week period of consultation and
appoint an independent examiner.

Page 108

3.10

Cabinet’s approval is also sought for this to be undertaken and for the draft
Plan and its associated documents, plus consultation representations to be
submitted to the appointed examiner for independent examination.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

Given the broad nature of Neighbourhood Planning, there will be direct
implications for all of the Council’s corporate priorities.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

On the basis of the assessment of the draft Neighbourhood Plan and
accompanying documents, to find that the proposal does not comply with the
criteria for a neighbourhood plan and thus to recommend that the plan is not
taken forward for publication and examination. Not Recommended. If
Councillors were minded to refuse the submitted Neighbourhood Plan, the
authority is required to notify the Parish Council of the reasons for the refusal
and to publicise its decision. This will result in a delay to the Neighbourhood
Development Plan timetable.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None directly.

6.2

Workforce
None directly.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The main financial considerations will result from:
 Cost of examination (estimated £8,000).
 Cost of referendum (estimated £10,000).
The Council is eligible for Neighbourhood Planning New Burdens
funding – paid by MHCLG for supporting progression of
Neighbourhood Plans. The 2018/19 claims criteria allow grant
payment of £20,000 to be claimed once a date is set for a
referendum, following a successful examination.
Details of
financial support for neighbourhood planning in 2019/20 have yet
to be released.

Page 109

6.5

Legal
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 Part 5
govern preparation of Neighbourhood Development Plans.
Regulation 15 sets out the requirements for submission of plan
proposals. Regulation 16 sets out requirements for publicising a
plan proposal and Regulation 17 provides requirements for
submission of a plan proposal to examination. The Localism Act
2011 Schedule 9 amends the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 with Schedule 4B, paragraph 6 of which sets out the criteria
that a Local Planning Authority must consider when assessing a
neighbourhood plan and paragraph 8 provides the basic
conditions.

6.6

Sustainability
Planning Practice Guidance advises that Neighbourhood Plans,
Supplementary Planning Documents, the Statement of Community
Involvement, the Local Development Scheme and the Authority
Monitoring Report are excluded from the requirement for a
sustainability appraisal. The Local Plan has been subject to a
sustainability appraisal, it is not considered necessary to repeat
this assessment of policies in the Neighbourhood Plan.
Neighbourhood plans may require Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA), but only where there are potentially significant
environmental effects. It is the opinion of the SEA consultation
bodies that the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan would not have any
significant effects in relation to any of the criteria set out in
Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations.

6.7

Consultation
The draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to a six
week period of pre-submission public consultation. The revised
plan will be published for a further minimum period of six weeks to
seek representations.

6.8

Risk Assessment
Risks are identified in the report.
Dai Larner
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links
and
Background
Papers
Leekfrith

Location

Contact details

www.leekfrithparishcouncil.btck.

Joanna Bagnall

Page 110

Parish
Council

co.uk/LeekfrithNeighbourhoodPlan

joanna.bagnall@highpeak.gov.uk

7.

Detail

7.1

Neighbourhood planning was introduced through the Localism Act 2011. It
enables communities to develop planning policies that will become part of the
statutory development plan for their area. Neighbourhood planning is
delivered by Town or Parish Councils for their ‘neighbourhood area’, in this
case, the parish of Leekfrith.

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan – progress to date
7.2

The draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is attached as Appendix 1.

7.3

The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in March 2015. The
designation was made jointly by the District Council and the Peak District
National Park Authority as the Parish lies within both local planning authority
areas.

7.4

In May 2016 a postal survey questionnaire was sent to every household in the
parish, a 25% response rate was achieved. A drop in day event was held in
October 2016 to enable parishioners to see proposals and to ask questions
about the emerging plan and further consultation events were held as the plan
was finalised.

7.5

The formal stage of public consultation, prior to submission to the District
Council, and as set required by Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012, was undertaken by Leekfrith Parish Council
between 31st January and 21st March 2018. As a result of the pre-submission
consultation, a number of amendments were made to the draft Plan.

Summary of draft Plan: vision, planning policies and site allocations
7.6

The draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan sets out a vision to help to maintain,
enhance and secure the longevity of the community in the Leekfrith Parish.
The Plan comprises four policies described below.

7.7

Policy 1Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill: supports a mixed use scheme on
this small industrial site in the Peak District National Park to include provision
of new homes and light industrial units. Policy 2 supports the temporary
renting of ancillary holiday accommodation on the general rented market subject to a number of criteria being met. Policy 3 seeks to control parking on
narrow roads throughout the Parish via the requirement for a transport
statement. Policy 4 identifies the use of a small site for overspill car parking at
the Roaches for up to 28 days per calendar year.

Submission documents
7.8

In line with Neighbourhood Planning Regulations, the Parish Council has

Page 111

prepared a Consultation Statement for submission to the District Council
alongside their plan (Appendix 2). This Statement is required to include:
 details of people and organisations consulted;
 how they were consulted;
 a summary of the main issues and concerns raised;
 a description of how these issues and concerns were considered and
addressed in the proposed Neighbourhood Plan.
7.9

Neighbourhood Plans must meet certain basic conditions before they can
proceed to referendum. Whether or not the draft Plan has met these
conditions must be checked by the District Council and will be tested through
the independent examination. A Basic Conditions Statement - prepared by the
Parish Council and submitted with the Plan (Appendix 2) - is required to
demonstrate how the draft Plan meets each of the “basic conditions”.

7.10

The basic conditions for a Neighbourhood Plan are that it must:
 have appropriate regard to national policy;
 contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
 be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan
(this is the adopted Core Strategy with weight to be given to the policies in
the emerging Local Plan);
 be compatible with EU obligations, including human rights requirements.

7.11

As part of the District Council’s duty to check conformity of the draft Plan with
the basic conditions, screening assessments have been prepared to
determine whether a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the Plan is
required under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations and whether a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Plan
is required under the EU Habitats Directive. Screening reports have been sent
to the statutory consultation bodies: Historic England, Natural England and the
Environment Agency for their opinion.

7.12

The Basic Conditions Statement includes the opinions received from the
consultation bodies in support of the conclusion that the preparation of a
Strategic Environmental Assessment is not required in support of the Plan.
Natural England also agrees with the screening report’s conclusions that the
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan would not be likely to result in a significant
effect on any European Site either alone or in combination and therefore no
further assessment work under the Habitats Regulations would be required.

Council’s role and procedural steps
7.13

A local planning authority must satisfy itself that a draft neighbourhood plan
submitted to it for independent examination complies with all the relevant
statutory requirements. In particular the District Council is required to consider
the draft Plan against the statutory requirements set out in paragraph 6 of
Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The
requirements, and details of compliance with them, are set out below.
Test 1: Is this a repeat proposal?

Page 112

7.14

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 5 (as
amended): The District Council can decline to consider a plan proposal if it is
considered to be a “repeat” proposal. To qualify as a repeat proposal, the
following should have taken place:
1. the authority has refused the same or similar proposal within the previous
two years; or
2. a referendum relating to the proposal that is the same as, or similar, has
been held and 50% or under of those voting, voted in favour; and
3. the authority considers that there has been no significant change in
national policy or local strategic policy since the refusal or referendum.

7.15

The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is not a repeat submission.
Test 2: Is the Parish Council authorised to act?

7.16

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 6 (2)(a) and
Section 61F: A Parish Council is authorised to act in relation to a
neighbourhood area if the neighbourhood area consists of, or includes the
whole or any part of the area of the Council.

7.17

Leekfrith Parish Council is the qualifying body for the purposes of preparing a
neighbourhood plan.
Test 3: Does the proposal comply with other relevant provisions made
under Section 61F?

7.18

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 6 (2)(b) and
Section 61F: sets out other relevant provisions in relation to designation and
authorisation to act.

7.19

Leekfrith Parish was designated as the Neighbourhood Area by the District
Council and the Peak District National Park Authority in March 2015. The
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan complies with other relevant provisions made
under Section 61F.
Test 4: Has the Qualifying Body submitted all required accompanying
documents?

7.20

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 6 (2)(c) and
Regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (as
amended) require that where a Parish Council submits a plan proposal to the
District Council, it must include:
 A map or statement identifying the area to which the plan relates;
 The Consultation Statement;
 The proposed Neighbourhood Development Plan; and
 The Basic Conditions Statement.
 EITHER an environmental report prepared in accordance with Paragraph
(2) and (3) of Regulation 12 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and
Programmes Regulations 2004) OR a Statement of Reasons for
determination under Regulation 9(1) of the Environmental Assessment of

Page 113



Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 that the Plan is unlikely to have
significant environmental effects.
Where required, information to enable appropriate environmental
assessments such as SEA or HRA.

7.21

The above items are attached as Appendices 1 and 2 and considered below.

7.22

The map of the designated neighbourhood area is shown on page 5 of the
Basic Conditions Statement.

7.23

A Consultation Statement has been submitted. It includes details of people
and organisations consulted; how they were consulted; a summary of the main
issues and concerns raised; and a description of how these issues and
concerns were considered and addressed in the proposed Neighbourhood
Plan.

7.24

The District Council received the submission Neighbourhood Plan on 5th
March 2019.

7.25

A Basic Conditions Statement has been submitted. In the first instance it is
the role of the Examiner to determine whether the Plan meets the Basic
Conditions.

7.26

The statutory consultees were consulted for a 6 week period from 25th July
2018 and concluded on the basis of the SEA and HRA screening assessments
that the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan would not have any significant effects in
relation to any of the criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the SEA Regulations.
The Peak District National Park Authority provided a determination to this
effect dated June 2019. It was also agreed that the Neighbourhood Plan
would not be likely to result in a significant effect on any European Site either
alone or in combination and therefore no further assessment work under the
Habitats Regulations would be required.
Test 5: Has the Parish Council undertaken the correct procedures in
relation to consultation and publicity?

7.27

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 6 (2)(d) and
Regulation 15 (2) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012
(as amended) set requirements for the scope of pre-submission consultation.
The submitted Consultation Statement provides evidence of compliance with
these requirements.
Test 6: Does the plan meet the definition of a Neighbourhood
Development Plan?

7.28

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38A (2) (as
amended) provides the definition of a Neighbourhood Development Plan: A
plan which sets out policies (however expressed) in relation to the
development and use of land in the neighbourhood area. The Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan meets this definition.

Page 114

Test 7: Does the Plan specify the period it covers?
7.29

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38B (1)(a) provides
that a Plan must specify the period for which it is to have effect.

7.30

The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan period is given as 2019 – 2033.
Test 8: Does the Plan include provisions relating to “excluded
development”?

7.31

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38B (1)(b) provides
that a Plan may not include any provisions relating to “excluded development”
as defined by Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Excluded development includes: development that consists of a county matter
eg relating to minerals; any operation relating to waste development;
development falling within Annex 1 to Council Directive 85/337/EEC
(Environmental Impact Assessment) eg oil refineries, power stations,
radioactive waste disposal, motorways, airports, toxic and dangerous waste
disposal; or a nationally significant infrastructure project.

7.32

The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan does not include any policies or proposals
relating to excluded development.
Test 9: Does the plan relate to more than one Neighbourhood Area?

7.33

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38B (1)(c) provides
that a Plan may not relate to more than one neighbourhood area.

7.34

The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan relates only to the designated Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Area.
Conclusion of tests

7.35

The submitted Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is considered to meet the
legislative requirements.

Next steps
7.36

Where the draft Neighbourhood Plan submitted to a local planning authority
meets the requirements in the legislation, the Local Planning Authority must
publicise the neighbourhood plan for a minimum of six weeks, invite
comments, notify any consultation body referred to in the Consultation
Statement and send the draft neighbourhood plan to independent
examination.

7.37

Following examination, the Council will determine, based on the Examiners
report, whether or not to take the plan forward to a public referendum.

7.38

A timetable for next steps is proposed as follows:

Page 115









July / Aug: Notify any consultation body which is referred to in the
Consultation Statement, that the plan has been received (in accordance
with Regulation 16 (b) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012).
July / Aug to September: Publicise the draft plan for a minimum six week
period of public consultation (in accordance with Regulation 16 (a) of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012).
August: Appoint an independent examiner in consultation with the Peak
District National Park Authority and Leekfrith Parish Council.
September / October: Draft Plan and consultation representations are
submitted for independent examination.
Autumn: Examination takes place through written representations and/or
hearings – modifications may be proposed throughout this process.
End of 2019: Examiner’s report received.

Page 116

Leekfrith Parish
Neighbourhood Plan
2019 - 2033
Submission Version
Feb 2018

Page 117

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

CONTENTS

PAGES

1. Introduction & Acknowledgements

3

2. Neighbourhood Plan Area

4

3. Leekfrith Parish

5

4. Our Vision

7

5. How the Neighbourhood Plan fits into the Planning System

8

6 Evidence for Policies

8

7 The Polices

9

a. Development of Upper Hulme Mill

9

b. Full time rental of holiday cottages

12

c. Parking on the narrow roads throughout the parish

13

d. Parking at the Roaches

13

Appendix 1 Leekfrith survey questionnaire

15

Appendix 2 Survey Overview

21

Appendix 3 Housing Needs Survey

22

Appendix 4 Data on cars parked illegally on the Roaches

32

Page 2 of 32

Page 118

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

1. Introduction & Acknowledgements
1.1 This Neighbourhood Plan sets out policies for the use and development of land in the
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area covering the period from 2017-2032. Once adopted, it will be
used by the local planning authorities (alongside other strategic plans) to make decisions
about development in the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area.
1.2 As the responsible body for writing the Neighbourhood Plan Leekfrith Parish Council has
involved people who live, work and do business in the Neighbourhood area at every stage:
in developing a vision for their community and in the choices which will help to shape their
neighbourhood.
1.2 The Parish Council would like to thank everyone who contributed, and the many people
who are still contributing, to the preparation of this Plan.

2. Neighbourhood Plan Area
2.1 The policies in this plan relate to Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area which was designated by
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and by Peak District National Park Authority in
March 2015. The geographical area is the same as that defined by the boundary of Leekfrith
Parish. It is shown with a red dotted boundary on the map in Figure 1 and covers an area of
about 3,000 hectares.

Page 3 of 32

Page 119

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Figure 1

Page 4 of 32

Page 120

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

3. Leekfrith Parish … a treasure trove!
3.1 Leekfrith parish is a
beautiful rural area on the
south western edge of the
Peak District. It is large in
area
but
sparsely
populated. There are 306
people on the electoral role
and 150 houses.
3.2 The Parish contains
the
small
village
of
Meerbrook and the hamlet
of Upper Hulme, both are
Conservation
Areas,
together with a few houses
and small farms in the
surrounding area.

hoto

Photo by M Mcgriskin

3.3 The northern two thirds of the Parish are in the Peak District National Park and the
southern one third is part of the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council area. The Roaches
and Hen Cloud, outcrops of Millstone Grit dominate the area. The Roaches, rise to 1,658 ft.
(505 m.) and is very popular with climbers. Gun, a hill on the west side of the township, rises
to 1,263 ft. (385 m.). The valley between the Roaches and Gun is drained by Meer brook.
The brook originally flowed into the River Churnet, but since the mid 19th century it has
flowed into Tittesworth Water. The reservoir originally lay mostly in Tittesworth, but it was
extended around 1960, involving the flooding of a number of properties and now lies mostly
in Leekfrith. The reservoir is operated by Severn Trent Water PLC, and dominates the valley
floor.
3.4 The Roaches and Tittesworth Water both attract large numbers of tourists, which add to
the economics of the area and are most welcome to share in the beauty of our area, but
also cause significant issues
with car parking.
3.5 The village of Meerbrook has
a an Anglican church, a small
Methodist chapel, a public house
‘The Lazy Trout’, a village green
and a village hall, all in close
proximity to each other. These
are the focal points of the parish
and even though we live far
apart there is a vibrant
community here. It is this spirit of
community that is highly valued
by the parishioners.
Photo by M Mcgriskin

3.6 House prices in the area are
very high because of the mainly
detached nature of the housing stock and the desirability of the surroundings. This makes it
difficult for the younger generation to find suitable housing in the area.

Page 5 of 32

Page 121

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
3.6 The population of Leekfrith, in age, tends towards the older end of the spectrum.
3.7 In the hamlet of Upper Hulme there is an old Dyeing Mill built around the turn of the 20 th
century with additions throughout the early part of the century which has given rise to a
hotch-potch of buildings. Many of these buildings are in poor repair: some are let to small
businesses. This area is a prime candidate for sympathetic redevelopment.
3.8 Leekfrith has history. In early 2017 several gold ‘torcs’ (neck bracelets) were found
within Leekfrith Parish. They are of national importance and may well be the oldest gold
artefacts found in the UK. They date from 400-250 BC. In 2015 a burial urn was found on
the top of the Roaches believed to be about 3500 years old.

Page 6 of 32

Page 122

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

4. Vision
To develop a Neighbourhood Plan that will help to maintain, enhance and secure the
longevity of the community in the Leekfrith Parish.

V1. A community of all ages
As in many rural communities the average age of our population is increasing. The lack of
suitable housing makes it difficult for younger people to buy a house in the village. At the
other end of the age range, many older people in the past have left the community they love
because they cannot down-size to a smaller home within the community. We want to have
housing suitable for all ages so that our community can remain flourishing and sustainable.

V2. Where the focal points of our community are valued
and protected
All communities need places of focus. In our community the Village Hall, the Church, the
Chapel and the Pub at present fulfil this role admirably. The school is also important and
although it is in Tittesworth parish it is on our border. Where possible our plan should ensure
their long-term viability. We also want to look at providing other points of focus which could
improve communication and cohesion between all of us in the community, providing benefits
to health and well-being.

V3. A community where suitable businesses can thrive and
employ
There are many small businesses thriving throughout the parish and this entrepreneurship
should be encouraged. We want an environment which encourages people to set up a range
of businesses, giving employment opportunities for local people.

V4. Conservation
Our location is beautiful being blessed with both the Roaches and Tittesworth Water. Any
improvements we make must enhance the special character here and our quality of life. We
welcome the many visitors who want to share this beauty, but the numbers are such that
careful management is required so as not to spoil what we have.

These were the Visions we had at the beginning of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan project. It
transpired that we found there was nothing within the scope of Neighbourhood Planning ie the
development and use of land, that would specifically enhance the long term viability of our
focal points as laid out in Vision 2, so no policies were developed for Vision 2.
A large proportion of our Parish is in the Peak District National Park so we found that locally
there was no appetite to identify areas of land for specific extra conservation measures as
protection was already thoroughly in place.
The project concentrated therefore on the issues parishioners were most enthused about
which were housing, business and issues arising from tourism.

Page 7 of 32

Page 123

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

5. Neighbourhood Plans and the Planning System
5.1 The parish of Leekfrith is partly in the Peak District National Park and partly in the
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council area. Neighbourhood Plans must have regard to
national policy, be in general conformity with local policies and contribute towards the
achievement of sustainable development.
5.2 To this end the Peak District National Park Authority’s Development Plan, (Local
Development Framework Core Strategy 2011, the Local Plan 2001 and the draft
Development Management Policies) and SMDC’s Core Strategy and the emerging Local
Plan have been considered.
5.3 The Neighbourhood Plan gives local people the power to decide where new housing
should go and how the Parish should develop. Without this Neighbourhood Plan, these
decisions would be made by either the Peak District National Park Authority for those areas
inside the Peak District National Park or by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council for the
rest.

6. Evidence for Policies and Legal Compliance
6.1 The Neighbourhood Plan has emerged from significant research and consultation and
this is presented as part of the policy evidence base in Appendices and in the Consultation
Statement. The Basic Conditions Statement demonstrates the Neighbourhood Plan’s
compliance with legislation.
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4

Page 8 of 32

Our survey to parishioners
Our survey analysis overview
Housing needs survey
Data on illegal car parking on the Roaches

Page 124

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

7. The Policies
7.1 REDEVELOPMENT OF UPPER HULME MILL
7.1.1 Our parish is very rural and even the centres of population are no more than a few
houses. In line with National Policies the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has
an aspiration, based on historical data, that 4-8 “windfall” unplanned dwellings will transpire
during the lifetime of this plan within the SMDC part of the parish. There is no requirement
for this Neighbourhood Plan to identify specific plots. In the past, local people have been
much more creative in their identification of suitable plots than anyone in the political system.
7.1.2 The Peak District National Park has no specific allocation of housing however delivery
of dwellings in the National Park counts towards the housing targets set out for
constituent local authorities within the Park. So any development in the PDNPA area
within the parish will count towards SMDC’s housing allocation.
7.1.3 A housing needs survey in the parish, conducted in October 2014, identified a need for
three houses during the next five years. There was also an indication of the desire for older
people to ‘downsize’ but stay in the area, and for a mix of housing types to suit young
families.
7.1 4 From our vision we would like to build houses for the young and the not so young and
initially we considered allocating plots of land in Meerbrook for possible development. After
consultation we dropped this idea because the sites were unlikely to become available, they
were not particularly efficient sites and there was little support in Meerbrook.
7.1.5 Conversely the industrial site in Upper Hulme offers land for building of houses and
industrial units which is supported by the owners, is supported by the parishioners, would
enhance the visual amenity of the area and its development is supported in general by the
planners of the PDNPA.
7.1.6 After much consultation with PDNPA planning officers and the Upper Hulme Mill
owners, it was determined that the site does have the potential to be redeveloped – subject
to the owners’ permission. Policy 1 and the associated site plan indicate what may be
possible in terms of demolition, house building and new industrial units.
7.1.7 A very small part of the proposed development site lies beyond the Leekfrith Parish
boundary (the brook running through the site). It is acknowledged that the LNP has no
authority beyond the neighbourhood area boundary. However we would hope that any
redevelopment would include the whole site.
7.18 Affordable and open market housing is required, the proportions of which will depend
on the requirements at the time of development. There is enough land available to far
exceed any conceivable requirements of the parish (possibly 40+), but no limits should be
applied as an increase in population will enhance the long term viability of the community.
7.1 8 Parking on the main road through the hamlet of Upper Hulme would cause significant
problems as highlighted by parishioners in the area.

Page 9 of 32

Page 125

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Policy 1: Redevelopment of Upper Hulme Mill
A. Redevelopment of the Upper Hulme Mill site broadly in line with the requirements set out
below, and as indicated on the site plan (figure 2) is supported:
(i) in the red hatched area, significant enhancement of the site and its surroundings is
required by removal of non-traditional structures and buildings and the replacement with new
build, traditionally designed dwellings with associated parking and garaging.
(ii) in the blue hatched area all the existing traditional buildings should be retained.
Conversion to new dwellings/apartments, holiday accommodation, and B1 business (small
craft businesses with ancillary retail) may be suitable.
(iii) in the green hatched area, general industrial use is the established use but other
acceptable uses include affordable local needs housing and/or B1 light industrial units.
B. The ratio of affordable to open market housing will depend on the prevailing conditions at
the time of application. The number of units will depend on the details of the development
and how they are integrated within the site as a whole.
C. Car parking requirements must be sufficient to ensure that parking on the main road
through Upper Hulme is completely discouraged.
D. Any application for development should be supported by a Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal and a Habitat Regulations Assessment to determine if proposals would affect the
South Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation and Peak District Moors Special
Protection Area.

Page 10 of 32

Page 126

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Figure 2
Page 11 of 32

Page 127

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

7.2. FULL TIME RENTAL OF HOLIDAY COTTAGES
7.2.1 There are several holiday cottages in the parish. These tend to be developed from
outbuildings of existing farms, as such they are sparsely distributed within the parish and do
not encroach upon the character of the parish.
7.2.2 Some of these holiday cottages suffer from under occupation through lack of demand
or the owners no longer being interested or capable of injecting the work required by the
high demands of the holiday rental market. This creates a situation where the parish has
under-occupied dwellings yet no accommodation for young families, or older residents
wishing to downsize. Conversion of holiday cottages for use as long term rental within the
PDNP is subject to strict controls. We have worked with the PDNPA and SMDC to facilitate
relaxation of these controls in certain circumstances so as to better match the needs of
residents and tourists with the dwellings available.
7.2.3 The flexibility outlined in policy respects the tourist nature of the area, whilst offering
change of use between two types of residential use (ancillary holiday use and ancillary
residential occupation). Depending on the nature of the holiday accommodation, this may
provide rented accommodation for people desiring or needing to live in the parish, but for
whom purchase of a house is impossible.
7.2.4 The flexibility will be a temporary arrangement subject to review. This policy continues
to address National Park and SMDC purposes of conservation and tourism, whilst offering
scope for people to stay and enjoy the National Park in line with demand. It also offers the
community a way to address some of its concerns over the range of accommodation
available to sustain it.

Policy 2
The renting of ancillary holiday accommodation, on the general rental housing market will be
permitted provided
i.
The ancillary holiday accommodation has adequate indoor and outdoor living space
and is not so closely related to adjoining properties that permanent residence would cause
unacceptable harm to their amenity and
ii.
The ancillary holiday accommodation has been made available for holiday use
through recognised marketing channels for holiday accommodation for the whole of the two
years prior to the application, at a competitive price for the size and standard of the
accommodation offered, and such marketing shows a lack of demand that proves that
holiday use of the accommodation is unviable; or
iii.
There is evidence provided that the ancillary holiday accommodation cannot be
operated as ancillary holiday accommodation by the current owners for other non-financial
reasons such as age or infirmity; and
iv.
The letting of the property for other than ancillary holiday use requires no additional
infrastructure; and
v.
The ancillary holiday accommodation remains under the control of the owner of the
main house to which the accommodation is ancillary.
Where the above criteria are satisfied, permission will be granted on a temporary basis for 2
years.

Page 12 of 32

Page 128

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
7.3. PARKING ON THE NARROW ROADS THROUGHOUT THE PARISH
7.3.1 Throughout the parish the roads are very narrow and completely unsuitable for car
parking. Any car parking that does take place causes unacceptable congestion, safety
issues and difficult access for farm and emergency vehicles. Any development that would
directly or indirectly lead to car parking on these roads should not be permitted.

Policy 3
The majority of roads in the parish are narrow, and have soft verges. Any development
proposal must provide a transport statement that considers the parking implications of the
proposal. The proposed development must demonstrate suitable parking arrangements that
avoid unacceptable harm to the highways network.

7.4. PARKING AT THE ROACHES
7.4.1 Visitor parking on the Roaches has been a problem for at least 3 decades and a
number of attempts have been made to solve the problem without success. On good
weather days at the weekend the numbers of cars visiting the Roaches substantially
exceeds the capacity of the present car parking. Cars then park on the verges and on bends
making access difficult for anyone to get through. Parishioners are sometimes trapped in
their homes due to cars parking in their driveway. There are many non-transport accidents
on the Roaches as it is a well used climbing location and emergency vehicles often have
difficulty gaining access. Farm businesses in the area stop operations outside the farm at
weekends because of the difficulty of access. Farms are 24/7 businesses so this is a
significant problem.
7.4.2 Even though other parts of the National Park with comparable visitor numbers such as
Stanage Edge and Dovedale have adequate car parks the PDNPA have consistently denied
an adequate facility at the Roaches.
7.4.3 We have investigated a new approach in conjunction with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust
(SWT) which now manages the Roaches. We are proposing an overspill car park which will
operate on those good weather days when there is not enough space in the lay-byes by
using the 28 day rule for using land or buildings for an alternative use without the need for
formal planning consent.
7.4.4 A suitable piece of land has been identified (see figure 3 below). It is envisaged that
temporary removable ground protection matting will be required to make this facility
accessible throughout the year. Funding will be required for this development to go ahead.

Policy 4
This plan supports the alternative use of the land specified in Figure 3 for car parking for up
to 28 days per calendar year.

Page 13 of 32

Page 129

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Figure 3

Page 14 of 32

Page 130

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 1
Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Dear Parishioner,

This letter contains important information, together with a survey
that we would ask you to complete and return to us in the s.a.e.
provided.

Background (Why we need a Neighbourhood Plan):






The government has given local neighbourhoods the chance to have a greater say in
how their communities develop over the next few years.
Whilst local planning authorities have always taken into account the views of the local
community when responding to potential planning applications in their area a
Neighbourhood Plan is a formal document which adds strength to those views when
these applications are considered.
Leekfrith Parish does not currently have such a plan, but we are preparing one, and
we need you help as part of our consultation process.
Without such a plan we have a much weaker voice in terms of local planning issues
……so PLEASE, complete and return the survey in the S.A.E. provided and
help us to plan for the future of Leekfrith Parish. You can also scan the
completed survey and email to bobfoster4722@gmail.com or just send your
answers in an email.

Background (What we have done so far) :




Drafted a ‘Vision’ document trying to encapsulate how we would like the Parish to
look in 15-20 years time. This includes such issues as housing, employment,
facilities, the environment, and the community.
Been in contact with Peak District National Park Authority(PDNPA) and Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council(SMDC) about the guidelines we should work within.
Made good progress on identifying some areas which may be developed for the
benefit of the community.
Made some progress in drafting a set of Policy Statements which we think should be
at the heart of our Neighbourhood Plan.

What do we ask of you now? :

Complete the survey and return it to us! ….. this will help us to shape the
‘Vision’ statement and the Policy Statements. These might sound a bit
bureaucratic, but they are important because they lay down the things that we
stand for.

If you would like to be involved in your neighbourhood plan, you’d be very welcome so
please get in touch via the telephone or e-mail (details below). We hope we can count on
your support.
Page 15 of 32

Page 131

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Yours sincerely,

Robert(Bob) Foster, Neighbourhood Plan Co-ordinator for Leekfrith Parish Council
Tel 01538 300321 Email bobfoster4722@gmail.com

Page 16 of 32

Page 132

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) Survey 1
Your name
Telephone and
email
Address

Question 1
The ‘Vision’ Statement is shown below. How strongly do you agree with it? (Choose the
most appropriate number, and then add any comments you wish). Use separate paper if
comment area too small.
Strongly agree

5

4

3

2

Strongly disagree
1

Comments

Vision
To develop a Neighbourhood Plan that will help to maintain, enhance and secure the
longevity of the community in the Leekfrith Parish.
A community of all ages.
As in many rural communities the average age of our population is increasing. The lack of
suitable housing makes it difficult for younger people to buy a house in the village. At the
other end of the age range, many older people in the past have left the community they
love because they cannot down-size to a smaller home within the community. We want to
have housing suitable for all ages so that our community can remain flourishing and
sustainable.
Where the focal points of our community are valued and protected
All communities need places of focus. In our community the Village Hall, the Church, the
Chapel and the Pub at present fulfil this role admirably. The school is also important and
although it is in Tittesworth parish it is on our border. Where possible our plan should
ensure their long-term viability.
We should also look at providing other points of focus which could improve
communication and cohesion between all of us in the community, providing benefits to
health and well-being.
A community where suitable businesses can thrive and employ
There are many small businesses thriving throughout the parish and this entrepreneurship
should be encouraged. We want an environment which encourages people to set up a
range of businesses, giving employment opportunities for local people. However, an
essential part of business these days is internet access. There are many parts of the parish
where this is very poor and we must take steps to improve this.
Conservation
Our location is beautiful being blessed with both the Roaches and Tittesworth reservoir.

Page 17 of 32

Page 133

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Any improvements we make must enhance the special character here and our quality of
life.
We welcome the many visitors who want to share this beauty, work with our businesses
or even decide to live here, but the numbers are such that careful management is
required so as not to spoil what we have.

Question 2
Upper Hulme Mill, a large dilapidated brown field site, may provide a great opportunity to
provide many housing units which may fulfil and exceed the needs of the parish and thereby
enhance the sustainability of the community by increasing the viability of local services such
as the school.
With the help of PDNPA we have made very good progress on this, developing a preliminary
plan(appendix one) which conserves the old buildings, allows demolition of the dilapidated
buildings and encourages some development which could house young and older residents,
as well as some business units. These plans would only progress if the owners are in
agreement and a developer(s) can be found. However the plan is a framework for the
owners and potential developers to work from.
Do you agree with what we are doing here?
Strongly agree

5

4

3

2

Strongly disagree
1

Comments. Please
use separate
paper if comment
area too small

Do you have any other ideas that we could do with this site?
Comments. Please
use separate
paper if comment
area too small

Question 3
In Meerbrook village we have identified, with SMDC and the PDNPA, two potential sites (see
appendix two)), which could be developed for affordable housing. These sites would only be
developed if the owners of the sites want such a development and only if there is a proven
local need.
The idea of putting these in the Neighbourhood plan would be that these sites would be the
only sites within Meerbrook supported by the local community. These sites were chosen
because they were within the existing curtilage of the village, were infill rather than a standalone development and did not interfere significantly with the view of the Roaches.
The village needs ‘affordable’ housing, and this would have to be semi-detached or terrace
in order to meet current guidelines of affordability.
.
Do you agree with the sites chosen?
Strongly agree

Page 18 of 32

5

4

3

Page 134

2

Strongly disagree
1

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Comments. Please
use separate
paper if comment
area too small

Question 4
There are a number of holiday cottages in the parish which may be under-occupied and the
owners may wish to let out these properties as full time lets. Allowing full time letting would
create housing for local people and attract new people to the parish so enriching our
community. We are negotiating with the PDNPA to include this as a local policy in the
neighbourhood plan.
Do you agree with this approach?
Strongly agree

5

4

3

2

Strongly disagree
1

Comments
Comments.
Please use
separate paper if
comment area too
small

Question 5
Visitor parking on the Roaches has been a problem for at least 3 decades and a number of
attempts have been made to solve the problem. In conjunction with Staffordshire Wildlife
Trust (SWT), we are proposing an overspill car park which will operate on those good
weather days when there is not enough space in the lay-byes. We have made good
progress on this, having identified a suitable patch of land on Windygates Farm and a
surface which will blend in with the surroundings. The challenge now is to find funding to
finance the construction.
Do you support this approach?
Strongly agree

5

4

3

2

Strongly disagree
1

Comments.
Please use
separate paper if
comment area too
small

Question 6
Do you have any other suggestions which could be taken forward in a neighbourhood plan?

Page 19 of 32

Page 135

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Comments.
Please use
separate paper if
comment area too
small

Page 20 of 32

Page 136

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 2

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan…. Survey Analysis Overview
The survey questionnaire was sent out to all occupied properties in the parish, 160
properties.
40 questionnaires were returned, the percentage return therefore was 25%.
The following points have become evident as the survey was analysed.
1. Support for the vision was very high at an average of 4.5 out of 5.
2. Support for the development of Upper Hulme Mill was again high at 4.2, however
there is concern about parking and the suitability of the road to the Mill.
Actions… Parking will be addressed in the policies governing development ie a
certain number of parking spaces per housing unit would be required. Also moving
industrial units away from the main thoroughfare would eliminate the issues we have
with loading/unloading. The roadway has been assessed by Staffordshire Highways
and their judgement is that the increase in traffic will be marginal as the volumes are
relatively high, due to tourism, and there has been significant HGV traffic along that
road for many years.
3. There was support for the possible affordable housing sites in Meerbrook at an
average of 3.8, but there was strong disagreement from within Meerbrook itself.
Actions… On reflection the parish council have decided not to continue
with this policy, instead deciding that it will be better to address the issue of
affordable housing as and when a request arises. The sites that we identified,
although acceptable to the PDNPA and SMDC, are unlikely to become
available in the medium or even long term and there is a much greater likelihood of
affordable housing being built on the Upper Hulme Mill site.

4. The possibility of a holiday cottage owner being able to choose whether or
not to offer full time rent had good support at 4.2.
Actions There was some concern that the rents would be too high for local people
but according to Whittaker and Biggs estate agents the premium would only be of the
order of 10% against a similar property in Leek.
The rationale for this policy is that holiday cottages across the Peak Park are
occupied for about 25% of the year, which means there is a substantial body of
housing stock being under utilised.
5. The Roaches overspill car park was very well supported at 4.4.
Actions.. Finance for this project has proved to be impossible at present so the
concept will be included in the Neighbourhood Plan so that it can be pursued when
finance can be found.
6. There is great concern about parking within Meerbrook village due to the popularity
of the local pub.
Actions.. Leekfrith parish council is engaging with Severn Trent and the Lazy
Trout to see if an extension to the Lazy Trout car park is possible. This is progressing
very quickly so will not be included in the Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 21 of 32

Page 137

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 3
Leekfrith Parish Housing Needs Survey 2014

Contents
Introduction
Key findings;
Local resident views regarding affordable housing provision,
Households in housing need,
Analysis of need in context of open market
Availability, eligibility and turnover of social housing stock
Other areas of housing need (housing register & parish leavers)
Planning context
Conclusions
Appendix 1

Introduction

Page 22 of 32

Page 138

p1
p 1-5
p1
p 1-2
p 2-4
p4
p 4-5
p 5-6
p6
p 8-10

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
During May 2014 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council undertook a housing needs survey
with the support of Leekfrith Parish Council. Survey forms were posted out to 152
households within the Parish and 2 former resident households identified as 'parish leavers',
there was a low 17% response rate. All responses returned up to and including 18th July
2014 were analysed, results are shown in Appendix 1. The aim was to give every household
the opportunity to have their housing need assessed and to identify households who are in
housing need in the local community.
Key Findings;
Local resident views regarding affordable housing provision
The survey gives local residents the opportunity to give their opinions about affordable
housing and gauges the level of community support for the provision of affordable homes to
meet local need. There can be legitimate concerns about the development of affordable
housing and opposition can also be about the development of lower priced or rental
properties and the type of person who is likely to live in these properties and whether they
may be associated with the local area. 69% households surveyed are in favour of a small
development of affordable homes for local people. Comments in relation to affordable
housing provision within the Parish are shown in Appendix 1.
Respondents also identified the following sites as potentially suitable for small scale
affordable housing development for local people with recognition that development
opportunities are informed and restricted according to Peak District National Park planning
authority policy.






Upper Hulme Village
Where people could use their own land
Old MOD/ Army base in Blackshaw Moor and Moss Rose Public House
Disused yard in Blackshaw Moor
Centre of Meerbrook - either side of New Road

Households in housing need
7 households identified themselves as in housing need. 6 currently live within the Parish and
local connections are also gained through close family, previous residence and employment.
2 households are single adults (0-24), 1 single adult (under 55), 3 couples (over 55 or
requiring level access accommodation) and 1 a couple with children. Households consider
current accommodation unsuitable because of 'health or mobility problems', 'too small', 'too
big', 'need single level access or adapted accommodation', 'too expensive' or/ and 'need to
live independently'. Accommodation is required now, within 1 to 3 years, and 3 to 5 years. If
these households could not live in their first area of choice they would be willing to move
between 1-4 miles away. There are multiple reasons (e.g. education, job prospects, social
excitement, cultural opportunity, reduced travel needs) other than access to housing that
may encourage people to move towards urban areas.
The table below is only based on the survey respondents’ self-identified need and stated
preferences, which shows preference for 2 and 3 bed properties.
Accommodation & bedroom preferences (without open market and available
social housing filter)
TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1 selection)
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4+bed
Page 23 of 32

Page 139

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
House
Flat
Bungalow

1

3

3

2

1

Analysis of need in context of open market
The above results are based only on the survey respondents’ self-identified housing need
and stated preferences. Preferences may be informed by aspirations towards longer term
family formation, adaptations relative to lifetime requirements, additional spare bedrooms as
opposed to current household make up and financial circumstances within the local market
context.
Further analysis within Appendix 2 and below takes into account:
 Affordability information from www.housingintelligence.co.uk
 Financial information for each household
 Prevailing open-market conditions
 Social housing availability and eligibility
a) 3 households identifying as in housing need could meet their stated preferences by
buying on the open market, own a property with no mortgage and do not wish to be
considered for affordable home ownership or rented as provided through a housing
association and shall be discounted from further housing need consideration. This was
determined by using financial information provided and recent sales information shown
below.
Area

Property type

Upper Hulme

3 bed terraced

Upper Hulme

3 bed semi
detached
2 bed detached
4 bed detached

Upper Hulme
Swythamley
(Rightmove website)

Selling/ purchase
price
£154,450
£147,000

Date of sale/
advertising
advertised
14/07/2014
sold 14/3/2014

£150,000
£807,000

sold 16/4/2014
sold 4/6/2013

There is a low turnover of properties generally in the Dane Ward, with low availability of
market entry level accommodation (flats/ terraced) and higher priced detached properties
available more frequently.

Semidetached

Terraced
Detached
Flat/Maisonette
Not
2009 Available
2
2 Not Available
Not
2010 Available
2
5 Not Available
2011
3 Not Available
7 Not Available
Not
2012 Available
3
10 Not Available
2013
1
2
6 Not Available

Page 24 of 32

Page 140

Total
4
7
10
13
9

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
(Hometrack website)
The average property price in the Dane Ward (based on sales) is £235,000 compared to the
District wide average of £170,043. £150,000 represents a lower quartile or entry level
property price within the Dane Ward. Analysis of affordability based on the relationship
between personal (individual) incomes and house prices shows that ten times an individual
income would be required to purchase in the Dane Ward, which can be expressed as a ratio
of 10:1, compared to the District ratio of 5.8:1. Below comparison of the lower quartile house
price to income ratios shows the Dane Ward within the top 3 highest wards.

The cost of renting privately per week in the Dane Ward is shown below, however 1 bed
accommodation in the parish area is negligible.
Average (£)

1 bed
2 bed

95
146

3 bed

149

District
average rent
comparison
87 -9% higher
103 - 42%
higher
130 - 14%
higher

30th percentile
(£)

80% Average
(£)

89
118

76
117

132

119

(Hometrack website)
b) One of the households identifying as in housing need did not provide sufficient financial
information to be able to judge whether their needs could be met by the open market. In
these cases affordability data can be used as a proxy for personal financial information.

FTB households - flat
FTB households - terraced house
FTB households - semi-detached house
FTB households - detached house
Owner occupier household - flat
Owner occupier household – terraced house
Owner occupier household – semi-detached
house

Page 25 of 32

% of households priced out of the
market
Staffordshire
Dane Ward
Moorlands
38.44
Not available
47.24
48.87
61.84
48.87
74.09
85.67
38.44
Not available
38.44
40.72
54.98
40.72

Page 141

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Owner occupier household – detached house
(Hometrack website)

68.42

82.5

With nearly 50% of first time buyers priced out of the open market and the information
provided it can be assumed that this household would not be able to meet their needs on the
open market.
Availability, eligibility and turnover of social housing stock
The majority of social housing allocations in Staffordshire Moorlands are facilitated through
Staffordshire Moorlands Homechoice choice based lettings. Your Moorlands (LSVT) and
most registered social landlords use this system and the accompanying website. The
eligibility criteria can be used to ‘translate’ the stated ‘property preferences’ of
households/individuals in need, into ‘actual need’. Single adult households would only be
eligible for 1 bed housing association properties. They would be considered for 1 bed
intermediate (shared ownership/ equity) options and national Help to Buy guidance around
affordable home ownership options does suggest that the purchase of a property with an
additional bedroom above a households current requirements may be permitted to ensure
that growing families can access suitable homes.
Existing social housing in the Leekfrith Parish provides for families with 2x3 bed and 2x2 bed
shared ownership properties in Meerbrook.
Other areas of housing need (housing register & parish leavers)
A further indicator of need can be determined from households registered on a Housing
Register. There are currently 66 households that have registered on Staffordshire Moorlands
Homechoice with an interest in 'Leekfrith' area. None of these households currently reside
within the Leekfrith Parish area. Therefore it can be taken that there are no additional
households registered on Staffordshire Moorlands Homechoice in need of affordable
housing within the Parish area. This does not include;



Those that have selected ‘anywhere’ as an area of choice on Moorlands
Homechoice.
Those that may have a local connection to the Leekfrith Parish through means other
than residence, people with a local connection to the Parish who have moved away
and may wish to return.

Housing need survey respondents identified 2 Parish Leavers, 'former Parish residents that
left within the last 10 years because they could not afford to buy/ rent a home in the area'.
These Parish Leavers were sent surveys however failed to respond.

Planning context
Planning policies that address housing can be found in PDNPA saved Local Plan policy LH1
and Supplementary Planning Guidance1 (SPG) which supplement the Local Development
Framework Core Strategy (adopted October 2011) policies DS1: Development strategy,
HC1: New housing, HC2: Housing for key workers in agriculture, forestry or other rural
enterprises. These policies address important considerations; quantifying affordable housing

1

Meeting the local need for affordable housing in the Peak District National Park (2003)

Page 26 of 32

Page 142

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
need, restricting occupancy to those who qualify and the size and type of home that will be
acceptable.
Saved Local Plan Policy LH1: Meeting local needs for affordable housing
Exceptionally residential development will be permitted either as a newly built dwelling in or
on the edge of Settlements (Policy LC2) or as the conversion of an existing building of
traditional design and materials in the countryside provided that:
 there is a proven need for the dwelling(s). In the case of proposals for more than one
dwelling, this will be judged by reference to an up to date housing needs survey. In
the case of individual dwellings, need will be judged by reference to the
circumstances of the applicant including his or her present accommodation; and
 the intended occupants meet the requirements of the National Park Authority's local
occupancy criteria (policy LH2). In the case of proposals for more than one dwelling,
where the intended occupants are not specified, a satisfactory mechanism to ensure
compliance with the local occupancy restriction will be required - normally a planning
obligation; and
 the dwelling(s) will be affordable by size and type to local people on low or moderate
incomes and will remain so in perpetuity; and
 the need cannot be met within the existing housing stock. Individuals may be asked
to provide evidence of a search for suitable property which they can afford to
purchase within both their own and adjoining parishes; and
 the requirements of Policy LC4 (design, layout and landscaping standards) are
complied with.
Key principles established by HC1 and HC2 policies include:
 Encouraging affordable housing, in a range of settlements identified in Core Strategy
DS1, but also by enhancement of sites and buildings elsewhere: working in a
consultative manner in each settlement as local need for affordable housing arises
rather than allocating land in advance for housing.
 Resisting general demand for new open market housing but permitting some in
cases where it is needed to bring about conservation and enhancement in named
settlements or of valued buildings,
 Providing for essential worker dwellings, care homes and supported dwellings, and
holiday accommodation where possible by re-use of existing buildings of historic or
vernacular merit.
 Conversion to incorporate affordable housing, where it can be achieved without
compromising viability. It also requires a financial contribution towards affordable
housing elsewhere, if there is no evidenced need for affordable housing in the parish
subject to the proposal for conversion. There must be an intention to provide
affordable homes wherever and whenever that is physically possible within the
conversion scheme.
 Principle of permitting open market housing only where:1. the site or buildings needs
conserving or enhancing, and can accommodate more than one dwelling, in which
case the Authority will try and secure the best result for both the site or building
and the community by permitting a mix of open market and affordable housing. 2. it is
needed to secure conservation or enhancement of a site that can only accommodate
one dwelling
Who qualifies as a “local” person for the purposes of justifying the need for new affordable
homes is defined within saved local plan policy LH2. The definition of people with a local
qualification requires a person to have a well-established connection with the area.
Exceptionally new housing will be permitted for a person with a proven need in accordance
with Policy LH1 provided that the dwelling will be occupied by:

Page 27 of 32

Page 143

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan






a person (and his or her dependants) who has a minimum period of 10 years'
permanent residence in the parish or an adjoining parish and is currently living in
accommodation which is overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory; or
a person (and his or her dependants) who has a minimum period of 10 years
permanent residence in the parish or an adjoining parish and is forming a household
for the first time; or
a person not now resident in the parish but with a proven need and a strong local
connection with the parish, including a period of residence of 10 years or more within
the last 20 years; or
a person who has an essential need to live close to another person who has a
minimum of 10 years' residence in the parish, the essential need arising from age or
infirmity; or
a person who has an essential functional need to live close to his or her work in the
parish, or an adjoining parish within the National Park.

DS1 development strategy indicates what types of development are acceptable in principle
in the countryside and named settlements such as Flash. In or on the edge of these
settlements new build development will be acceptable for affordable housing provided that
an assessment of capacity is undertaken to examine settlement character, pattern, and
landscape setting.

Conclusions
A total of 3 households present with an affordable housing need. These comprise 2 young
single households that require accommodation in the near future, within the next 1-5 years.
Another large household requires accommodation now.
It is therefore recommended that 2x1 bed and 1x5 units of affordable housing be provided. A
5 bed affordable property would be unusual and exceptional in terms of affordable housing
provision and may not meet with future District housing needs, therefore option to readily
convert the accommodation to be considered. Similarly Lifetime Homes standards would
ensure accessible and inclusive affordable provision.

Page 28 of 32

Page 144

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 1: Results
In favour of development
In favour of small development of affordable homes for local people
of which;
Identifying as in housing need and in favour of a scheme
Identifying as not in housing need and in favour of a scheme
Identifying as not in housing need and not in favour of a scheme
Identifying as not in housing need and unspecified
Total respondents

69%
27%
42%
31%
0
26

Comments in relation to affordable housing provision in the Parish for local people
'Individual developments more in keeping with Leekfrith scattered community, several
individual scattered homes would be more appropriate to the families in the area where
people can use their own land...family size and existing affordable housing...build our
own...the only way we could afford to live here'
'Unable to afford housing in the area is in short supply resulting in the younger generation
having to leave which is a detriment to the community.'
'Lots of derelict Mills in Leek that would make excellent apartments.'
'Every persons needs are different so a variety of housing is needed e.g. suitable for
couples or larger properties for families which are vital fro village life and to help rural
schools and communities. At the moment there is very little on offer for families with two or
more children.'
'When the dam at the reservoir was built 9 properties were flooded...this forced some
families out...moved to Macclesfield and Leek...If some of the land either side of the New
Road were purchased this would bring new life back into the centre of the village.'
'Much of the housing is widespread because of the farming community but if owners have
to leave due to infirmity there is little in the way of appropriate housing in the village to
offer them.'
'Accommodation required for retiring people who wish to downsize and pass their larger
house and business (i.e. farm) to their children in order to keep families within the
community.'
'Families with children wanting to build their own home...a community needs families to
support school, village activities...approve barns for holiday but not homes.'
'We believe that local people should be able to stay in the community that they have
grown up in whther it be affordable housing provided to be rented, or housing built by that
person/s on their own/ families land or land available to purchase. We need young people
to stay here.'
'Houses are required on private land for family members (i.e. within the cartilage of
existing buildings) who do not want to move.'
'...in favour of a small development of barn conversions which would be more in keeping
with the planning designations already in place...'
Households identifying themselves as in housing need
Number of households
Household makeup of those identifying as in need
Single adult (16-24 yrs)
Single adult (under 55)
Couple (over 55/ requiring older persons accommodation)
Couple with children
TOTAL
Page 29 of 32

Page 145

7

2
1
3
1
7

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Local Connection of households identifying as in need (total more than total household
need as some respondents made >1 selection)
households in need currently
residing in parish
6 average length of time in parish (yrs)
26
households in need with previous
average length of time previous
residence
1 parish residence (yrs)
23
households in need with
average length of time family in
immediate family in parish
3 parish (yrs)
82
households in need with
average length of time employment
employment in parish
2 in parish (yrs)
23
Timescale for housing requirements
in need now
in need within 1 - 3 yrs
in need within 3 - 5 yrs

3
1
3

How far away would households identifying in need be willing to move?
0-4 miles
No answer

6
1

Current tenure of households identifying as in need
Own with a mortgage
Own with no mortgage
Live in tied accommodation
Live with relatives/ friends

1
3
1
2

Why current home unsuitable (total more than total household need as some respondents
made >1 selection)
too small
2
too big
2
too expensive
1
need to be close to family
0
health or mobility problems
3
need to live independently
1
Need single level or adapted accommodation
1
Why wish to live within the Parish? (total more than total household need as some
respondents made >1 selection )
born/ grew up there
close family ties
currently live
employed
need to take up employment
other

Page 30 of 32

Page 146

3
4
5
1
0
1

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Tenure preference of households identifying as in need
households preferring private rented
households preferring housing association rented
households preferring private home ownership
households preferring affordable home ownership
TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1
selection)

2
7
3
12

Accommodation & bedroom preferences (without open market and available
social housing filter)
TOTAL (more than total no. households in need as some respondents made >1 selection)
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4+bed
House
1
3
1
Flat
Bungalow
3
2

Page 31 of 32

Page 147

Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 4
Number of Cars Parking illegally on the Roaches

Day
Thurs
Sat
Sun
Sat
Sat
Sat
Sat
Sat
Sat
Sat
Sat

Date
14/04/2016
16/04/2016
17/04/2016
30/04/2016
14/05/2016
28/05/2016
11/06/2016
18/06/2016
25/06/2016
2/07/2016
9/07/2016

Number of cars out of bays
30
21
42
51
12
36
32
29
31
31
43

This is from Roaches Hall track to the turning bay and doesn't include the cars parked
opposite the tea rooms
Data provided by Staffordshire Wildlife Ranger service.

Page 32 of 32

Page 148

LEEKFRITH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
2019 -2033
CONSULTATION STATEMENT

Tittesworth Water from the Roaches
1

Page 149

CONTENTS

1. Introduction
2. Consultation Process
3. Consultation to Develop the Draft Neighbourhood
Plan
4. The Formal Regulation 14 Consultation
5. Conclusion

2

Page 150

1.0 Introduction
1. 1 The Consultation Statement has been prepared to fulfil the legal requirements of Part 5,
S(15) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 by:
a. Detailing all those who were consulted about our Neighbourhood Plan;
b. Outlining details of the consultation process;
c. Providing a summary of the main issues and concerns that were raised during the
consultation;
d. Detailing how these issues and concerns have been considered and addressed in
the Neighbourhood Plan.
1.2 Leekfrith is a rural Parish with no real concentration of houses. The whole parish has
only 306 people on the electoral role and 150 houses. It is however a strong community. The
village of Meerbrook has only a dozen houses, but also a church, chapel, village hall and a
thriving pub. The hamlet of Upper Hulme has half a dozen houses, a pub and also quite a
large old Dye Mill which these days houses a number of small companies that make a
diverse range of products. The Mill is in poor repair.
1.3 The parish is within the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) administrative
area but the planning function is split between SMDC and the Peak District National Park
Authority (PDNPA).
1.4 The Roaches, a well-known beauty spot loved by walkers and climbers, is situated to the
North of the parish in the National Park. Tittesworth Water, another well visited amenity, is
situated to the South within SMDC’s area.
1.5 During 2014 Leekfrith Parish Council became concerned that our close knit community
was aging and because of the availability of housing younger people were moving away
rather than staying in the community. It was decided that a Neighbourhood Plan could be
used to possibly address this problem.
1.6 Because of the small size of the community enough was known of the issues to
formulate a Vision which would be a starting point for wider consultation.
1.7 The Neighbourhood Plan project was essentially run by one person which later became
two with the Parish Council acting as Steering Group and making formal decisions.

3

Page 151

2.0 Consultation Process
2.1 There were two parts to the consultation process:


Part 1 - The informal consultation leading to the development
of the draft Neighbourhood Plan which would be submitted to
the formal Regulation 14 consultation process



Part 2 - The formal Regulation 14 consultation process.

3.0 Part 1 Consultation to Develop the Draft
Neighbourhood Plan
3.1 The following communication vehicles were used throughout the Part 1 consultation:

 Meerbrook and Upper Hulme Community Face book page
https://www.facebook.com/groups/693655204088357/
 Meerbrook Chronicle – local newsletter
 Postal survey
 Parish notice boards
 Drop-in Day
 Parish meetings
 Parish website http://leekfrithparishcouncil.btck.co.uk/
3.2 The following table details the consultations that took place leading to the development
of the draft plan.

Date

Objective

Comments

Parish Council

Formulate draft
Vision

Use of the long
experience of
councillors to
formulate draft
vision

A number of issues
over the last few
years had made this
easier

Village Hall
Committee and
Village Green
Committee

Validate the
draft Vision and
ideas for the
LNP

Both meetings
were in favour
of the vision but
no new ideas

A total of 20
parishioners
attended the meeting
representing 6.5% of
the electoral role

Throughout
2014

Jan-15

1/Feb/15

Effectiveness of
Communication

Who with

Started
Meerbrook and
Upper Hulme
Community
Facebook page

4

Page 152

16/Apr/15

Successful
Designation of
Neighbourhood
area publicised
by PDNPA in
their news
bulletin.
Posted
designation of
Neighbourhood
Plan Area by
PDNPA and
SMDC press
release on
Facebook page

Make wider
community
aware of our
intention to do a
NP and give an
idea of the sort
of areas which
would be
involved

27 comments
10 likes

Seen by 231 people
of whom at least 46
are parishioners i.e.
15%.

Posted on
Facebook page

Clarification of
the designation
of area process

2 comments 9
likes

Seen by 231 people
of whom at least 46
are parishioners i.e.
15%

Meetings with 4
individual
owners of
Upper Hulme
Mill

To assess the
level of desire to
upgrade the Mill

At the time it
was thought
there were 4
owners of the
Mill.
Subsequently it
transpired that
a small garage
was owned by
a 5th owner

All four of the main
owners expressed
that the Mill was
dilapidated and far
from ideal as
industrial units and
something needed to
be done.

Heaton Parish
Council

To inform our
neighbouring PC
of our plans

Positive response

13/Jul/15

Rushton Parish
Council

To inform our
neighbouring PC
of our plans

Positive response

27/Jul/15

Meeting with
Upper Hulme
Mill Owners,
PDNPA
Planners and
members of
Leekfrith PC

For the parties
to understand
what could be
possible for the
Mill

A very positive
meeting with all
seemingly
understanding each
other’s needs.

17/Apr/15

19/Apr/15

May-15

20/Aug/15

5

Page 153

29/Oct/15

12/Dec/15

Meeting for
PDNP Planners
to become
Acquainted with
Upper Hulme
Mill and its
possible part in
the Leekfrith
Neighbourhood
Plan

To enable the
PDNPA
Planners to
understand the
size and
complexities of
the Mill site

Post on new
Leekfrith Parish
Council website

Posted the latest
Vision and
Scope of the
LNP

Post on
Facebook Page

Posted a
progress report
of the LNP for
information and
comment

No comments
2 likes

Seen by 228 people
at least 47 of whom
are parishioners i.e.
15%

Post on
Facebook Page

Clarification of a
point concerning
possible
allocation of
affordable
housing sites in
Meerbrook
village

No comments
7 likes

Seen by 228 people
at least 47 of whom
are parishioners i.e.
15%

Article in
Meerbrook
Chronicle

Progress report
of the LNP for
information and
comment

150 editions
circulated in an adhoc fashion around
the parish

Meeting
between the
LNP project
Manager and all
5 Mill Owners

Meeting to
present an "Aunt
Sally"
development
plan put together
by the PDNPA
Planners to the
Mill Owners

In general the
meeting warmly
welcomed the plan.

Post on
Facebook page

Notification of
LNP postal
survey

2/Jan/16

13/Jan/16

Jan-16

20/Apr/16

10/May/16

It was agreed that
the Mill is a complex
site and that the
decay of some of the
buildings, the
difficulty of attracting
tenants and the poor
access means that a
strategy for
development is
essential.

No comments
4 likes

6

Page 154

See by 118 of which
at least 38 were
parishioners

10-May2016 to
end July 16

19/Aug/16

Sep-16

1/Oct/16

21-Oct-16
&25-Oct-16

Postal survey
questionnaire
sent out to
every
household in
the parish

To inform
parishioners
about the LNP.
To gain
agreement for
advancement of
the 4 areas of
policy identified
by prior
consultations.
To ask for
further ideas and
comments

160 questionnaires
were sent out and 40
were returned, a
25% response.

Post of the
Survey
overview on
Facebook page

To communicate
the overview of
the Survey

2 comments 4 likes
and seen by 54 of
whom at least 22
were parishioners

Article in
Meerbrook
Chronicle

To communicate
the overview of
the Survey

150 editions
circulated in an adhoc fashion around
the parish

Notice of "Dropin" Day posted
on Facebook.
On PC Notice
board, on
Church Notice
Board, within
Village Hall
Notice board
and ‘flyers’ in
the local pub
Reminders of
the "Drop-in"
day posted on
Facebook

To give plenty of
notice of the
event

"Drop-in" Day
Event

To give
parishioners an
opportunity to
drop-in to the
Village Hall and
have a
presentation and
ask questions
about the LNP

All who
attended were
very positive
about the LNP

14 parishioners
attended

Stall at
Meerbrook
Xmas Fayre

To give
parishioners a
further chance to
have a
presentation and
ask questions
about the LNP

All parishioners
who took part
were very
positive

10 parishioners took
part

26/Oct/16

30/Nov/16

To give plenty of
notice of the
event

7

Page 155

10/Jan/17

Tittesworth
Parish Council

To inform our
neighbouring PC
of our plans

Positive response

3.3 The conclusions of the Part 1 Consultation are as follows:


The Vision was very strongly endorsed in the Postal Survey



The embryonic policies put forward in the postal survey were also strongly
endorsed except for the proposal to allocate 2 affordable housing plots in
Meerbrook Village. Although there was overall support in the wider community
there was quite strong opposition in the village itself and the objections put
forward were considered to be very reasonable by the parish council so this
proposal was removed from the draft plan



The draft Neighbourhood Plan was approved for formal Regulation 14
consultation.

8

Page 156

4.0 Part 2 Formal Regulation 14 Consultation
4.1 It is required by the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations that before submitting a plan
proposal to the local planning authority, a qualifying body must:
“(a) publicise, in a manner that is likely to bring it to the attention of people who live, work or
carry on business in the neighbourhood area (i) details of the proposals for a neighbourhood development plan;
(ii) details of where and when the proposals for a neighbourhood development plan
may be inspected;
(iii) details of how to make representations; and
(iv) the date by which those representations must be received, being not less than 6
weeks from the date on which the draft proposal is first publicised;
(b) consult any consultation body referred to in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 whose interests
the qualifying body considers may be affected by the proposals for a neighbourhood
development plan”
4.2 In order to satisfy the above requirements Leekfrith Parish Council published the formal
Notification (See Appendix 1) and undertook other publicity as detailed below. In each case
it was made clear where and how the plan could be inspected and how to make
representations. In each case the time given to make representations was 6 weeks or
longer.
i.

Posted Notification and the pre-submission plan on the Meerbrook Community
Facebook page detailing how and by when to comment. This reaches approximately
50 (16%) parishioners. The post was freely available for comment between 31 Jan
18 & 21 Mar 18. A sample of the text used is shown in Appendix 2.

ii.
Sent Notification and the pre-submission plan in emails to those parishioners who
participated in the Leekfrith NP survey detailing how and by when to comment. This
reached approximately 30 (18%). A sample of the text used is shown in Appendix 3.
iii.

Displayed Notification detailing who to contact to receive a copy of the
Neighbourhood Plan and how and by when to comment, and a copy of the printed
Neighbourhood Plan and its appendices in the local village hall from 31 Jan 18 to 22
Mar 18.

iv.

Included a piece in the local paper (Leek Post and Times) detailing who to contact to
receive a copy of the NP and how and by when to comment. (See Appendix 4).

v.

Deposited printed copies of the Plan and Notification with instructions on how and by
when to comment at both Staffordshire Moorlands District Council offices in Leek and
at Leek library from 31 Jan 18 to 22 Mar 18.

vi.

Sent the Notification and draft Plan in emails to the following Schedule 1
organisations. A copy of the email is in Appendix 5.
Peak District National Park Planning Authority,
Staffordshire County Council,
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council,
Coal Authority
HCA (Midlands area),
9

Page 157

Ramblers Association,
Natural England,
English Heritage,
Environment Agency,
Highways Agency,
Openreach
MBNL Communications (for mobile network)
Seven Trent,
Western Power Distribution
Staffordshire Wildlife,
East Midlands Chamber of Commerce,
Stafforshire Chambers of Commerce,
Business Peak District,
Blackshaw Moor first school,
Churnet View middle school,
Three Horseshoes Inn,
Ye Olde Rock Inn,
Lazy Trout Meerbrook,
Hillcrest Engineering,
Radical Energy,
Red Earth Farm Ltd
K.J Baines Commercials,
J Vernon - owner of small part of Upper Hulme Mill,
Indigo Furniture, Upper Hulme,
St Matthews Church Meerbrook,
Methodist Chapel Meerbrook,
Heathylee PC,
Rushton PC,
Heaton PC,
Tiittesworth PC,
Peak District Rural Housing Association,
Roaches Tea Rooms
Party Houses
Alderlee Holiday Cottage
4.3 The following table summarises the main issues and concerns raised by persons
consulted, and describes how these have been considered, in accordance with
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations Part 5 S15 (2) (c) and (d).

10

Page 158

Abbreviations:
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP)
Peak District National Park Authority (PDNPA)
National Park Authority (NPA)
PDNPA Local Plan (LP)
Draft Development Management Policies (DMP)
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC)
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust (SWT)

General
Comment

SMDC

1

General
Comment

Heathylee 2
Parish
Council

Responder Comment

Neighbourhood Plan Working
Group Response

The draft Plan appears to offer a valuable and
sustainable contribution to the future development of the
Parish and the District Council looks forward to offering
continued support in taking the Neighbourhood Plan
forward to examination and then referendum

A strongly encouraging response
from our local council

NO

.
Heathylee Parish Council would like to make the following
response to your Survey1:
Question 1 - 5 Strongly Agree - we support local housing
and business
Question 2 - 5 Strongly Agree
Question 3 - 3
Question 4 - 5 Strongly Agree
Question 5 - Strongly agree
The survey was attached to the LNP for information only
as it had been completed some time ago and was aimed
only at parishioners.

This appears to be a response to
our initial survey rather than a
response to the draft Plan,
nevertheless the comments have
been noted and we appreciate the
positive support.

NO

Amend
plan?
yes/no

Response
ID

Page 159

Responder

Section Policy
of
Ref
Leekfrith
NP

11

Page 160

General
Comment

PDNPA

3

Number paragraphs and split large blocks of text into
smaller blocks, to aid readability

Points taken about greater clarity of YES
presentation

General
Comment

Natural
England

7

Natural England does not have any specific
comments on this draft neighbourhood plan.
However, we refer you to the attached annex which
covers the issues and opportunities that should be
considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.

Useful advice, which we were
aware of.

NO

General
Comment

SWT

8

Thank you for consulting Staffordshire Wildlife Trust on
the Leekfrith Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2018 - 2033
Public Consultation Document 18 Jan 2018 and
associated appendices.
I have attached a checklist of biodiversity requirements
for strategic planning as laid out by the NPPF and
Planning Practice Guidance, with notes on the type of
information that plans ought to contain. I have also
attached some information on where data on ecological
features can be gained, and how SWT may be able to
help with some aspects of ecology evidence base.
Although the plan mentions many of the important
landscape features of the parish, it should also list the
important designated sites, habitats and species in the
area that are relevant to planning. This will also help to
direct development in future, and also potentially highlight
where work, and funding, can be targeted to solve issues
and enhance the area. We appreciate however, that
Leekfrith is a small parish and sparsely populatedresources may be slim and so looking at key areas and
where information is most needed would be beneficial.

Very detailed observations about
the need for awareness of the
ecological
surroundings, and the need to
minimise the impact of any
development.

NO

12

However, the Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan ( LNP ) has a
primary function of serving the
community, and we feel that
ecological issues have been
adequately covered by the
presence of a HRA screening report
which analyses the various issues
from a broader viewpoint.
The LNP Policy 1 makes reference
to the need for an HRA.
The HRA for the SMDC Local Plan

We would be pleased to meet with the plan group to
discuss how we may be able to input further to the plan
and produce some useful information. I have however put
together some initial notes on the plan that we feel should
be considered.

Page 161
13

( Feb 2108 ) concluded that there
was no adverse effects on
European sites with regard to its
policies SS3, SS4 and SS11

Page 162

General
Comment

SWT

General
Comment

SWT

8

8

National Character Area
Leekfrith parish is within NCA 53, the South West Peak. See comment above
The NCA has a lot of useful information on the character
of the area, that could inform the plan and perhaps more
detailed policies relating to the types and design of
development that would uphold local character as well as
wildlife features special to the area. This includes
drystone walls, peatland areas and watercourses, all of
which are important to wildlife but also water
management, water quality and carbon storage.
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/1239
2045?category=587130
Landscape-scale Projects and Initiatives
The southern part of the within moorlands is within
Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership area, with
various projects ongoing including river restoration and
veteran tree surveys. The Churnet Valley has its own
biodiversity opportunity map and is highlighted in the
proposed new Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan
currently being consulted upon. We recommend the NP
should mention the area and support the aims of the
initiatives here.
The South West Peak national character area is a focus
for other project work by several nature conservation
partners, focussing on sustainable farming, bird
conservation and water management, as well as
engaging communities and young people. We can
provide further information and the parish may consider
how policies could support these aims in the area.

14

See comment above

NO

NO

General
Comment

SWT

8

Page 163

Wildlife Sites, Habitats and Species
Leekfrith Parish contains parts of the South Pennine Moors
See comment above
SAC and Leek Moors SSSI. Most of SWT's nature reserve, The
Roaches, is in the parish. There are several Local Wildlife Sites
(LWS)in the area, and some areas around Tittesworth
Reservoir are being considered for LWS designation. There are
also many other sites that have
been recognised as being high value in the past, but have not
been recently surveyed. LWS designations are therefore not
comprehensive or up-to-date for the area. There are several
areas of ancient woodland, some of which has been planted
with conifers and is in need of restoration.
The parish is 2829 ha in size. Around half of the parish has no
habitat data according to Staffordshire Ecological Record –
mostly in the centre of the parish which is within the Peak Park.
The PDNPA may well have more data on
the area. Many past planning applications across the parish
may contain ecology surveys and data that could be collated.
The area is particularly important for many priority bird species,
and has populations of several important mammals such as
otter, polecat and bats.
One requirement of the NPPF is that plans map out areas with
potential for habitat enhancement or restoration, as well as
promote the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery
of priority species populations, linked to national and local
targets, and identify suitable indicators for monitoring
biodiversity. The plan should also contain policies for protection
and enhancement of Local Wildlife Sites and irreplaceable
habitats- this is an opportunity to strengthen national and
district guidance, which can be a little vague, and secure net
environmental gain for each development.
As SWT manages The Roaches, we would be interested in
contributing to map of biodiversity opportunities in the area. A
green infrastructure strategy might also be beneficial, to bring
together possible improvements for wildlife,
landscape, access and water management . This can help
inform the planning process, but also help co-ordinate other

15

NO

kinds of projects and sources of funding. It might be helpful for
the parish to consider further a 'wish list' of issues or needs that
could be addressed in the area, such as accessible green
space (if this is lacking), footpaths, flooding issues etc. that
resources could be sourced for as part of development or other
projects.

SWT

General
Comment

SWT

General
Comment

Judith
Sherratt

8

Page 164

General
Comment

8

11

Renewable Energy
Northern Staffordshire is an area with good opportunities
for wind energy, solar and potentially other initiatives
such as small hydro-electric schemes or anaerobic
digesters to produce green gas. The demand for such
developments does depend on the economic climate and
availability of grants/ subsidies; but, especially where
farming is marginal, there is always the need to diversify.
We suggest these types of development be considered in
the plan, so that within this wildlife-rich and sensitive
landscape, the locations and requirements for such
installations can be specified in more detail where
necessary
Farm diversification and agricultural developments
The plan would do well to consider the kinds of other rural
development that may come forward in the plan period,
such as camp sites, farm buildings, fishing ponds etc. etc.
and the specific requirements that may be needed in
terms of protection/ enhancement of the environment in
the area..
What about the parking issues in Meerbrook? Drive
through the village at weekends and you will see issues
with cars parking inappropriately and causing issues for
large vehicles. There is a comment but that is related to
development.

16

We feel this is a planning issue
which would be controlled by
PDNPA and SMDC, as such this is
beyond our remit.

NO

We feel these are matters between
local land owners and the relevant
planning authorities, and is not in
our remit.

NO

Leekfrith Parish Council are working NO
on facilitating the enlargement of
the Lazy Trout car park. The
neighbourhood plan process is a
long one so it was decided that it
would be quicker not to put the car

park enlargement in the plan but
work on the issue directly, which we
expect to be much quicker.
General
Comment

Judith
Sherratt

Typographical
errors

PDNPA

And a small point, it was renamed from Tittesworth
Reservoir to Tittesworth Water a while ago.

3

Contents page, list of appendices does not match
Points taken on board about
appendices given
typographical errors
Page 4 Key to map. Blue line not dotted.
Page 5 Section 3 para 1. “The northern 2/3rds two thirds .
. . . southern 1/3rd one third . . .”
Page 5, para 1, last line “The reservoir is operated by
Severn Trent Water Authority PLC, and dominates the
valley floor.
Page 6, Ist para. Bold?
Page 6, Section 5, para 1, line 5. “ . . . Authority’s
Development Plan (Local Development Framework Core
Strategy . . . draft Development Management Polices
2106 )
Page 10, Section 7.3, 1st para, last sentence, delete extra
full stop.
Page 10, Section 7.4 2nd para. Remove full stop before
bracket.

YES

3

Plan reads “Non planning ideas in separate chapter.” But Sentence is removed
there is no separate chapter.

YES

Please keep an eye on Upper Hulme Works, making the
new or converted houses have four parking places each

NO

Page 165

11

1

Page 3
para 3.

PDNPA

7.1

Policy 1 Mr Donald 9
Goodwin

17

Noted

We feel this is covered in the LNP
Policy 3

YES

7.1

Policy 1 Mr Donald 9
Goodwin

It would be far better to allow the green field to be used
next to Upper Hulme Works than crowd the Works area
with yellow lines and traffic lights etc.
The extension of the adjoining land as part of the Upper
Hulme Works could be done with trees planted so it
would not be noticed.

Use of green-field sites is controlled NO
by other authorities and is not part
of our plan.

7.1

Policy 1 Fred and 10
Christine
Bradshaw

Would hope a convenience store figures in the plan for
small businesses.

The LNP Policy 1 will support retail
A1 uses.

YES

7.1

Policy 1 PDNPA

Conforms and supplements.(adopted policy)
Policy states “A number of light industrial units will also
be supported” however the text on the plan (Figure 2)
states “the green area has a premise in favour of general
industry/commercial use . . .”
Need to clarify what sort of industrial uses would be
acceptable. Suggest B1 is more appropriate if in close
proximity to housing. If general industrial is permitted the
policy needs to state that design and layout will minimise
impact.

The LNP Policy 1 will support B1
light industry use. The wording in
Fig 2 will be removed and included
in the text of Policy 1. C3 housing
development will also be included.

YES

7.1

Policy 1 Highways 4
England

3

Page 166

Highways England has been appointed by the Secretary The LNP will not impact Highways NO
of State for Transport as strategic highway company
England’s SRN
under the provisions of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is
the highway authority, traffic authority and street authority
for the Strategic Road Network (SRN). It is our role to
maintain the safe and efficient operation of the SRN
whilst acting as a delivery partner to national economic
growth. In relation to the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan,
our principal interest is safeguarding the operation of the
A500 which routes approximately 10 miles to the west of
the Neighbourhood Plan area.
We understand that a Neighbourhood Plan is required to
be in conformity with relevant national and District-wide
18

Page 167

planning policies. Accordingly, the Neighbourhood Plan
for Leekfrith is required to be in conformity with the
strategic local planning policies set by Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council and the Peak District National
Park and this is acknowledged within the document.
Limited development growth is planned to come forward
across the Neighbourhood Plan area. Up to 40 dwellings
could be constructed through the development of Upper
Hulme Mill. Given the distance of the Neighbourhood
Plan area from the SRN, coupled with the limited
development growth planned to come forward, it is
considered that there will be no impacts upon the
operation of the SRN.
We have no further comments to provide and trust that
the above is useful in the progression of the Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan.
7.1

Policy 1 Coal
Authority

5

As you will be aware the Neighbourhood Plan area lies
within the current defined coalfield.
According to the Coal Authority Development High Risk
Area Plans, there are recorded risks from past coal
mining activity in the form of 5 mine entries and likely
historic unrecorded underground coal workings at shallow
depth. If the Neighbourhood Plan allocates sites for
future development in these areas then consideration as
to the development will need to respond to these risks to
surface stability in accordance with the National Planning
Policy Framework and the Development Plan. In addition
any allocations on the surface coal resource will need to
consider the impacts of mineral sterilisation in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework
and the Development Plan.

19

Points noted. The LNP does not
have plans for future further
development.

NO

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) please
continue to consult The Coal Authority on planning
matters using the specific email address of
planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk.
7.1 Fig 2

Policy 1 Historic
England

6

Page 168
7.1

Policy 1 PDNPA
Figure 2

3

Thank you for the invitation to comment on the Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan.
Historic England has no adverse comments to make
upon the draft plan which we feel takes a suitably
proportionate approach to the main historic environment
issues pertaining to Leekfrith.
We commend the identification of the Upper Hulme Mill
site in Policy 1 as a site for future development. Historic
England strongly supports the retention and sympathetic
conversion of the historic buildings at the mill site. We do,
however, consider that this could reasonably be a
requirement of the policy rather than simply a preference,
as currently expressed in the rubric of Figure 2 in the
Plan.
I hope you find this advice helpful.

We welcome the support for the
choice of site at Upper Hulme.

NO

Policy 1 will be changed to so that it YES
is a requirement.

Title on map difficult to read on printed A4 version. Points noted
Red colour shading on map looks orange in some places.
A small part of the site is outside Leekfrith parish and
neighbourhood area. It is not permissible to make
policies for any land outside the neighbourhood area.

7.1

Policy 1 Natural
England

7

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
We have not checked the agricultural land classification
of the proposed allocations, but we advise you ensure

20

This anomaly will be pointed out in
the LNP

YES

LNP Policy 1 uses ‘brown-field’
land.

NO

that any allocations on best and most versatile land are
justified in line with para 112 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.
7.1

Policy 1 SWT

8

Page 169

Development of Upper Hulme Mill
The site would seem to be a very appropriate area to
Policy 1 will be changed to include
develop as it is a 'brown-field' site, and improvements to the requirement to carry out a
some aspects such as drainage could be beneficial to the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.
area as it is adjacent to a tributary of the River Churnet.
Sustainable drainage would be a key element here. The
site is within a corridor of potentially valuable habitat, and
should contribute to this if developed.
Before a site is allocated however, the potential ecology
constraints need to be known, in order to make an
informed decision. This could affect the type or scale of
development that may be possible, for example if
protected species were present. Any land contamination
would also need to be considered in terms of the
constraints that may present.
We recommend that a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
be carried out on the site before any decision is made on
its allocation. This should not be onerous given the size
and type of site. Some previous applications in the area
might also have some data. eg. bat surveys.

21

YES

7.2

7.2

Policy 2

Policy 2

Fred and 10
Christine
Bradshaw

Strongly agree with this policy.

PDNPA

Conforms and supplements.(adopted policy)

3

Is it possible outbuildings on farms (not just barns) be
converted to residential use for family members?

LNP Policy 2 only relates to the
flexible use of already existing
ancillary holiday accommodation
and extending the policy to include
any type of out-building is covered
by with PDNPA and SMDC local
plans

NO

Page 170

LNP is more aligned to the Draft Development
Management Policies (DMP) than the Local Plan (LP).
Use of term ‘on the general rental housing market’ in the
LNP policy is more permissive than the DMP which uses
‘those in housing need and having the required local
connection’. However the LNP would not significantly
undermine the NPA’s strategic policy for the following
reasons:
(i) scale – the policy would apply to only a few properties
in this neighbourhood area.
(ii) it is a temporary arrangement restricted to 2 years
Bullet (vi) should be a stand-alone statement.

LNP Policy 2 vi will be a stand alone YES
statement

7.3

Policy 3 PDNPA

3

Conforms and supplements
DMP parking policies and parking standards

7.3

Policy

8

Parking on narrow roads
This suggestion is beyond the
The issue of damage to road verges is a concern in terms scope of the LNP
of ecology, as many verges in the Moorlands are diverse
and support high value grassland/ heathland habitats.
Damage can also lead to erosion and soil/ silt washing
into watercourses. Some kind of plan to improve problem
areas and to protect verges, as well as provide more
parking or passing places would be valuable.

SWT

22

Agreement noted

NO
NO

7.4

Policy 4 Fred and 10
Christine
Bradshaw

Staffs county council used to have funds available for
local community developments, which is how we got
Meerbrook Village Green. Would this not be a similar
thing?

Funding for LNP Policy 4 has
already been explored and funding
from Staffs CC is not available at
this time.

NO

7.4

Policy 4 PDNPA

3

Conforms and supplements
DMP parking policies and parking standards

Conforms with DMP

NO

7.4

Policy 4 Natural
England

7

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
We have not checked the agricultural land classification
of the proposed allocations, but we advise you ensure
that any allocations on best and most versatile land are
justified in line with para 112 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 171

7.4

Policy 4 SWT

Appendix 5

PDNPA

8

3

Proposed Extra Parking at The Roaches
The proposed car parking site looks to be appropriate in
wildlife terms, as it is an improved grassland field of low
wildlife value. The dry stone wall would need to be moved
and retained. Through the parking spaces construction
the area could be enhanced with some native seed, and
perhaps a new hedge or shrub planting as appropriate to
add habitat and screening. If car parking areas can be
well designed and enhance the area, this may facilitate
the planning and provision of parking areas in the future
to alleviate the issues highlighted. The plan might also
consider whether there could be facilities provided further
from the Roaches in a less sensitive area, where people
can park and walk, and perhaps fund this via parking
charges?
It would be useful to know if these are all of the days
surveyed, or just the ones where there was illegal
parking, to give us an idea of the level of the problem.
23

LNP Policy 4 only specifies for up to NO
28 days use per annum
The land for the proposed
temporary car park is agricultural
land classification grade 4 ie Poor
The LNP Policy 4 only specifies 28 NO
days use per year and so is
permitted development. The land
owner would not tolerate any hedge
planting across the centre of his
field which is used for grazing.
Other areas have already been
explored and none were considered
viable.

These were all of the days
NO
surveyed. Anecdotally the days
when there is most illegal parking is

on Sundays when the weather is
good. The surveyed days were
mainly Saturdays because this
worked in with the SWT Ranger
service work pattern. The survey
was abandoned when it became
obvious no finance could be
obtained to fund the car park in the
short to medium term.

Page 172
24

5. Conclusion
5.1 The publicity, engagement and consultation completed throughout the production of the Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Plan has been open and transparent, with many opportunities provided for those that
live, work, and do business within the Neighbourhood Area to contribute to the process, comment, and
raise issues.
5.2 All statutory requirements have been met and a significant level of additional consultation has been
completed throughout the Neighbourhood Area.
5.3 The Consultation Statement and Appendices have been produced to document the consultation
and engagement process undertaken and are considered to comply with Part 5, Section 15 of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

25

Page 173

APPENDIX 1: Notification
LEEKFRITH PARISH COUNCIL

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Proposal: Notification of ‘Regulation
14’ pre-submission consultation
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B para 4 (1)
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)
Leekfrith Parish Council has prepared a ‘pre-submission draft’ Neighbourhood Plan for Leekfrith Neighbourhood
Area and is seeking comments from people who live, work or carry on business in Leekfrith parish.
The Plan sets out a vision for Leekfrith Parish which reflects the views and feelings of local people and contains
planning policies for the redevelopment of Upper Hulme, housing and parking.
If you have any comments on the neighbourhood plan proposal, please respond by e-mail to:
bobfoster4722@gmail.com
Or in writing to:
Leekfrith NP
Bank Top Farm
Upper Hulme
Leek
Staffs ST13 8UB
A copy of the draft plan is available to view at http://leekfrithparishcouncil.btck.co.uk/
Printed copies of the plan are available at Leek Library, 31 Stockwell St, Leek, ST13 6DH
And:
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House, Stockwell St, Leek ST13 6HQ
A printed copy of the plan can also be made available on request by emailing bobfoster4722@gmail.com
or writing to:
Leekfrith NP
Bank Top Farm
Upper Hulme
Leek
Staffs ST13 8UB

ALL RESPONSES MUST BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN MIDNIGHT ON THE 21ST MARCH
2018

26

Page 174

Appendix 2
Example of post on Meerbrook Community Facebook page

27

Page 175

APPENDIX 3
Text of email sent to respondents to the Leekfrith NP survey
Dear Parishioner,
As a respondent to the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) survey a while ago I’m writing to inform you that the
LNP has now been written up and gone over a few hurdles to the point where it is ready for public consultation
– a legal requirement on its journey to become a legal document for use in the planning system. Next steps will
be examination by an independent examiner and ultimately a referendum in Leekfrith parish.
The plan is attached as well as 4 appendices and a Notification explaining how and by when to comment.
Please take the time to read the plan if you are a parishioner and if you have any comments please contact us as
explained in the Notification. If you know any parishioners not on the web please tell them how they can see a
paper copy. Or email me or phone me on 01538 300321 with addresses etc and I will send a paper copy to
them.
All comments to be in before midnight 21 March 2018.

Kind regards

Bob Foster
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Project Manager
On behalf of Leekfrith Parish Council

28

Page 176

APPENDIX 4

29

Page 177

APPENDIX 5
CONSULTATION: LEEKFRITH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Dear Consultee,

LEEKFRITH PARISH COUNCIL

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Proposal: Notification of
‘Regulation 14’ Pre-submission Consultation
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Schedule 4B para 4 (1)
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

Leekfrith Parish Council has prepared a ‘pre-submission draft’ Neighbourhood Plan for Leekfrith
Neighbourhood Area and is seeking comments from people who live, work or carry on business in
Leekfrith parish.
The Plan sets out a vision for Leekfrith Parish which reflects the views and feelings of local people and
contains planning policies for the redevelopment of Upper Hulme, housing and parking.
The Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan and 4 appendices are attached
If you have any comments on the neighbourhood plan proposal, please respond by e-mail to:
bobfoster4722@gmail.com
ALL RESPONSES MUST BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN MIDNIGHT ON THE 21ST MARCH 2018
5 attachments
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan Public Consultation Document.pdf
Appendix 1 Leekfrith NP Survey Questionnaire.pdf
Appendix 2 Survey Overview.pdf
Appendix 3 Leekfrith Parish Housing Needs Survey 2014.pdf
Appendix 4 Number of Cars parking Illegally on the Roaches.pdf

30

Page 178

LEEKFRITH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
2019 -2033
BASIC CONDITIONS STATEMENT

Tittesworth from the Roaches

1

Page 179

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

Contents

PAGE
Part (1) Introduction

3

Part (2) Meeting prescribed legal conditions

4

Part (3) Linking Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan(LNP) to the National
Policy Planning Framework

6

Part (4) Contributing to the achievement of sustainable development

12

Part (5) Achieving general conformity with local strategic policy

14

Part (6) European Union obligations

16

Part (7) Conclusion

18

2

Page 180

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

1.0 Introduction
1.1 This Basic Conditions Statement has been produced in accordance with
Regulation 15 (1)(d) of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, to
explain how the proposed Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) meets the ‘basic
conditions’ of neighbourhood planning and other considerations as prescribed by
paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Basic Conditions Legal Framework
1.2 Paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 sets out
the following basic conditions that Neighbourhood Development Plans must meet. The
examiner must consider the following —
(a) whether the draft Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions
(b) whether the draft Neighbourhood Plan complies with the provision made by or
under sections 61E(2), 61J and 61L,
(c) whether any period specified under section 61L(2)(b) or (5) is appropriate,
(d) whether the area for any referendum should extend beyond the neighbourhood
area to which the draft Neighbourhood Plan relates, and
(e) such other matters as may be prescribed.
1.3 A draft Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions if —
(a) having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the Neighbourhood Plan,
(b) having special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest that it
possesses, it is appropriate to make the Neighbourhood Plan,
(c) having special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of any conservation area, it is appropriate to make the
Neighbourhood Plan,
(d) the making of the Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development,
(e) the making of the Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority
(or any part of that area),
(f) the making of the Neighbourhood Plan does not breach, and is otherwise
compatible with, EU obligations, and
(g) prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Neighbourhood Plan and
prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for
the Neighbourhood Plan.

3

Page 181

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

2.0 Meeting Prescribed Legal Conditions
2.1 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) has been prepared and is submitted in
accordance with statutory requirements and processes set out in the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations.
2.2 LNP is submitted by Leekfrith Parish Council, which is a qualifying body.
2.3 LNP sets out policies that relate to the development and use of land only within
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area (LNA).
2.4 LNP is the only neighbourhood plan for LNA.
2.5 LNA was designated by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) and the
Peak District National Park Authority (PDNPA) in March 2015. LNA is the same as
Leekfrith Parish.
2.6 LNP does not include policies regarding excluded development.
2.7 LNP covers the period from 2018-2033.

4

Page 182

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

Map of Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area and parish

------Boundary of parish and
neighbourhood area

_______
Boundary of Peak District National
Park

5

Page 183

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

3.0 Linking LNP to the National Policy Planning
Framework
3.1 Table 1 below describes how Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan has regard to and is
consistent with the NPPF (July 2018).
Table 1
NPPF

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP)

Chapter 2 Sustainable Development
Para 13
Neighbourhood plans should support the
delivery of strategic policies contained in local
plans or spatial development strategies; and
should shape and direct development that is
outside of these strategic policies.

LNP supports the delivery of strategic policies
contained in the Peak District National Park
Authority’s (PDNPA) Local Plan which
comprises the Core Strategy (2011), the Local
Plan (2001) and the Development
Management Policies (2018), and
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan.

Chapter 3 Plan Making
Para 18
Policies to address non-strategic matters
should be included in local plans that contain
both strategic and non-strategic policies,
and/or in local or neighbourhood plans that
contain just non-strategic policies.
Para 29
Neighbourhood plans should not promote less
development than set out in the strategic
policies for the area, or undermine those
strategic policies16.

LNP contains only non-strategic policies.

Para 31
The preparation and review of all policies
should be underpinned by relevant and up-todate evidence. This should be adequate and
proportionate, focused tightly on supporting
and justifying the policies concerned, and take
into account relevant market signals.

LNP recognises that the majority of the area’s
planning issues are adequately addressed by
the strategic policies. The 4 policies are
derived from and supported by evidence
derived from consultation with local people,
and this is outlined in the consultation
statement.

Para 32
Local plans and spatial development strategies
should be informed throughout their
preparation by a sustainability appraisal that
meets the relevant legal requirements.
Footnote 17

LNP has been subject to a Habitats Regulation
Assessment screening process which
concluded that the risk of significant harm to
designated European sites was not likely.

6

LNP promotes development, in line with
strategic policies, by:
• promoting the redevelopment of an
underused industrial site (Policy 1)
• supporting the renting of ancillary holiday
accommodation on the general rental
housing market (Policy 2)

LNP has been subject to a Strategic

Page 184

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

The reference to relevant legal requirements
refers to Strategic Environmental Assessment.
Neighbourhood plans may require Strategic
Environmental Assessment, but only where
there are potentially significant environmental
effects.

Chapter 5 Delivering Homes

Para 58
it is important that a sufficient amount and
variety of land can come forward where it is
needed, that the needs of groups with specific
housing requirements are addressed and that
land with permission is developed without
unnecessary delay
Para 61
Within this (strategic) context, the size, type
and tenure of housing needed for different
groups in the community should be assessed
and reflected in planning policies (including,
but not limited to, those who require affordable
housing, families with children, older people,
students, people with disabilities, service
families, travellers, people who rent their
homes and people wishing to commission or
build their own homes).
Para 65
Strategic policies should also set out a housing
requirement for designated neighbourhood
areas which reflects the overall strategy for the
pattern and scale of development and any
relevant allocations. Once the strategic policies
have been adopted, these figures should not
need re-testing at the neighbourhood plan
examination, unless there has been a
significant change in circumstances that affects
the requirement.

Para 69
Neighbourhood planning groups should also
consider the opportunities for allocating small
and medium-sized sites (of a size consistent
with paragraph 68a) suitable for housing in
their area.

February 2019

Environmental Assessment Screening process
which concluded it is unlikely that LNP will
have any adverse environmental effects.
See Part 6 of this document for full details.

The Plan provides for increased access to a
variety of accommodation in the parish,
through mixed housing at the Upper Hulme
site and increased flexibility in the use of
ancillary holiday accommodation. This should
lead to an increased parish population and
thus greater sustainability.
Policy 1 supports the delivery of homes on an
underused industrial site.

Policy 1 requires a mix of different houses
depending on the needs of the site and the
value or otherwise of the existing structures.

PDNPA strategic policies do not set out a
housing target therefore there is no housing
requirement for LNP.
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan has an
aspiration, based on historical data, that 4-8
“windfall” unplanned dwellings will transpire
during the lifetime of this plan within the SMDC
part of the parish. There is no requirement for
this Neighbourhood Plan to identify specific
plots.
Policy 1 supports the development of more
houses than are required by strategic policies.
See above.

Developments at the Upper Hulme site will
provide opportunities for business
entrepreneurship and a broad mix of housing

Chapter 6 Economy

7

Page 185

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

Para 83
Planning policies and decisions should enable:
a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all
types of business in rural areas, both through
conversion of existing buildings and welldesigned new buildings;
b) the development and diversification of
agricultural and other land-based rural
businesses;
c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure
developments which respect the character of
the countryside; and
d) the retention and development of accessible
local services and community facilities, such as
local shops, meeting places, sports venues,
open space, cultural buildings, public houses
and places of worship
Chapter 7 Vitality of Town Centres

Chapter 8 Healthy & Safe Communities

Para 91
(a) Promote social interaction, including
opportunities for meetings between people
who might not otherwise come into contact
with each other – for example through mixeduse developments, strong neighbourhood
centres, street layouts that allow for easy
pedestrian and cycle connections within and
between neighbourhoods, and active street
frontages;
Para 91
(b) Are safe and accessible, so that crime and
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not
undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion – for example through the use of
clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high
quality public space, which encourage the
active and continual use of public areas; and
Para 92
(a) Plan positively for the provision and use of
shared spaces, community facilities (such as
8

February 2019

stock, which will sustain the parish population.
Flexibility in the use of ancillary holiday
accommodation also has the potential to add
to the local economy and sustain the parish
population.
Policy 1 supports the development of tourist
accommodation, and A and B class business
use.

This section is not applicable to LNP as there
are no town centres within the neighbourhood
area
The LNP area is almost entirely agricultural in
nature, the land being dominated by small
farms. The population is sparse, and the reuse of land to provide housing and business
units, plus flexibility on the use of holiday
homes would bring newcomers to the area
and thus enhance ‘community health’.
(LNP Section 7.1 Policy 1, LNP Section 7.2
Policy 2)
Policy 1 supports the mixed use
redevelopment of an underused industrial site.

Policy 1 and Policy 4 (proposing a temporary
car park at a tourist ‘honeypot’) support the
provision of high quality public spaces,
including highways.

Policy 2 (supporting the renting of ancillary
holiday accommodation on the general rental
housing market provides) achieves this by

Page 186

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

local shops, meeting places, sports venues,
open space, cultural buildings, public houses
and places of worship) and other local services
to enhance the sustainability of communities
and residential environments;
Para 92
(d) Ensure that established shops, facilities
and services are able to develop and
modernise, and are retained for the benefit of
the community

February 2019

making best use of existing facilities.

This is adequately addressed by strategic
planning policies.

Chapter 9 Sustainable Transport
Para 102
(d) The environmental impacts of traffic and
transport infrastructure can be identified,
assessed and taken into account – including
appropriate opportunities for avoiding and
mitigating any adverse effects, and for net
environmental gains.
Para 102
(e) patterns of movement, streets, parking and
other transport considerations are integral to
the design of schemes, and contribute to
making high quality places.

Policies 3 (supporting suitable parking
arrangements) and 4 (allocating temporary
parking at a ‘honeypot’ site) address the
impacts of transport.

Policy 1 addresses this issue by requiring
‘parking requirements must be sufficient to
ensure that parking on the main road through
Upper Hulme is completely discouraged’.

Chapter 11 Effective use of land
Para 121
(b) make more effective use of sites that
provide community services such as schools
and hospitals, provided this maintains or
improves the quality of service provision and
access to open space.

Policy 1 supports the mixed use
redevelopment of an underused industrial site

Chapter 12 Well designed places
Para 125
Design policies should be developed with
local communities so they reflect local
aspirations, and are grounded in an
understanding and evaluation of each area’s
defining characteristics. Neighbourhood
plans can play an important role in identifying
the special qualities of each area and
explaining how this should be reflected in
development.

Policy 1 and the accompanying map set out
the requirements of any development in terms
of its relationship to existing buildings that are
of architectural merit, and the use of traditional
styles of building.

Para 127
(a) will function well and add to the overall
quality of the area, not just for the short term
but over the lifetime of the development

Overall, long term quality is achieved through
a balance between protection and limited
growth (limited by the national park context
and strategic policy); and where development
is permitted, ensuring that it is of the highest
quality, respecting both character and setting.

9

Page 187

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

Para 127
(b) are visually attractive as a result of good
architecture, layout and appropriate and
effective landscaping

Policy 1 and the accompanying map set out
the requirements of any development in terms
of its relationship to existing buildings that are
of architectural merit, and the use of traditional
styles of building.

Para 127
(c) are sympathetic to local character and
history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate
innovation or change (such as increased
densities)
Para 127
(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of
place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create
attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to
live, work and visit
Para 127
(e) optimise the potential of the site to
accommodate and sustain an appropriate
amount and mix of development (including
green and other public space) and support
local facilities and transport networks

As above

As above

Policy 1 offers the opportunity to maximise use
of a site in a mixed use redevelopment.

These issues are adequately addressed in
strategic policy.

Chapter 14 Climate change & flooding

Chapter 15 Conserving & enhancing the
natural environment

The Plan seeks to alleviate any inconvenience
to local people caused by road congestion and
parking on narrow lanes, by:
•Requiring, with regard to the redevelopment
of Upper Hulme, that parking space is
provided “sufficient to ensure that parking on
the main road through Upper Hulme is
completely discouraged.” (Policy1)
•Requiring a transport statement for all
proposed development (Policy3)
•Proposing land for temporary parking at the
Roaches (tourist/visitor site) under the 28 day
rule. (Policy 4)
The Plan gives high priority to the use and
regeneration of an existing business site at
Upper Hulme.
The Plan recognises that the Upper Hulme site
is close to special environmental sites and the
SEA and HRA documents form an important
part of our submission.
Any development of the Upper Hulme site
must conform to PDNPA policies on climate
change and carbon usage.

10

Page 188

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

Over the long term the Upper Hulme
development will preserve and enhance the
amenity of the listed buildings and the
conservation area.
Flexible use of existing holiday
accommodation will preserve the vernacular
structures and reduce the need for new build.

Para 172
Great weight should be given to conserving
and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in
National Parks, the Broads and Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the
highest status of protection in relation to these
issues. The conservation and enhancement of
wildlife and cultural heritage are also important
considerations in these areas, and should be
given great weight in National Parks and the
Broads. The scale and extent of development
within these designated areas should be
limited.
Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment

11

The LNP area is rich in its natural
environment. The LNP takes note of the
proximity of the Upper Hulme site to protected
European sites, and requires that any
development there must publish Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal and a Habitat
Regulations Assessment prior to any work
commencing.
Also parking is discouraged, particularly heavy
seasonal visitor parking, which damages the
narrow lanes within the area, and want to
encourage parking in designated areas.
( LNP Section 7.1. Policy 1)
( LNP Section 7.3 Policy 3 )
( LNP Section 7.4 Policy 4 )
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area is within the
Peak District National Park. All policies within
LNP conform to the NPA’s strategic planning
policies and protect and enhance the area’s
valued landscape and biodiversity
commensurate with this status.

Policy 1 requires buildings of merit to be
retained.
The historic environment of the LNP area rests
predominantly in its housing and farm
buildings. There is little modern development.
Flexible use of holiday homes, which are often
ancillary buildings attached to small farms, will
allow for the upkeep and maintenance of these
buildings which otherwise could eventually fall
into disuse and dis-repair.
( LNP Section 7.2 Policy 2 )

Page 189

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

4.0 Contributing to the achievement of
sustainable development
4.1 The NPPF states “the objective of sustainable development can be summarised as
meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations
to meet their own needs. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning
system has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net
gains across each of the different objectives.”
4.2 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) has been subject to a strategic environmental
assessment screening process, in consultation the Environment Agency, Natural
England and Historic England. Further details are given in Part (5) of this report and in
the appendices to this report.
4.3 Table 2 below describes how LNP meets the objectives of sustainable
development as described in the NPPF.
Table 2

NPPF

LNP

Economic objective .
. . ensuring that
sufficient land of the
right types is
available in the right
places . . .

Leekfrith is a rural parish with only 2 very small settlements.
Nevertheless the neighbourhood plan has a role in offering
employment opportunities in business, retail, local services
and tourism. Policy 1 proposes the re-use of an underused
industrial site for housing, business, tourist and A-class uses.

Social objective . . .
ensuring a sufficient
number and range of
homes . . .

There is no strategic obligation to allocate sites for housing in
the neighbourhood area, but Policy 1 (proposing
redevelopment for mixed use) and Policy 2 (supporting the
use of holiday accommodation for general use housing) will
address this social objective.

Social objective . . .
well designed and
safe built environment
...

Policy 1 requires any redevelopment to significantly enhance
the site and its surroundings, removal of non-traditional
buildings, retention of existing traditional buildings and for all
new housing to contribute to local character.

Social objective . . .
accessible services

This issue is not addressed in the neighbourhood plan as it is
adequately addressed by strategic policy.

Social objective . . .
open spaces that
reflect current and
future needs . . .

This issue is not addressed in the neighbourhood plan as it is
adequately addressed by strategic policy.

Environmental

The LNP area is rich in its natural environment. The LNP takes
12

Page 190

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

objective . . . protect
and enhance the
natural . . .
environment

note of the proximity of the Upper Hulme site to two special
environmental areas, and requires that any development there
must publish a Preliminary Ecological Survey and Habitat
Regulations Assessment prior to any work commencing.
Also parking is discouraged, particularly heavy seasonal visitor
parking, which damages the narrow lanes within the area, and
want to encourage parking in designated areas.
( LNP Section 7.1. Policy 1)
( LNP Section 7.3 Policy 3 )
( LNP Section 7.4 Policy 4 )

Environmental
objective . . . protect
and enhance the . . .
built . . . environment

Policy 1 requires any redevelopment to significantly enhance
the site and its surroundings, removal of non-traditional
buildings, retention of existing traditional buildings and for all
new housing to contribute to local character.

Environmental
objective . . . protect
and enhance the . . .
historic environment

Policy 1 requires any redevelopment to significantly enhance
the site and its surroundings, removal of non-traditional
buildings, retention of existing traditional buildings and for all
new housing to contribute to local character.
The historic environment of the LNP area rests predominantly
in its housing and farm buildings. There is little modern
development. Flexible use of holiday homes, which are often
ancillary buildings attached to small farms, will allow for the
upkeep and maintenance of these buildings which otherwise
could eventually fall into disuse and dis-repair.
( LNP Section 7.2 Policy 2 )

13

Page 191

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

5.0 Achieving General Conformity with Local
Strategic Policy
5.1 LNP must be in general conformity with the strategic policy of the development
plan for the area. Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area is within two planning authorities,
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and Peak District National Park Authority.
Therefore the relevant strategic policies are:




Peak District National Park Authority Local Plan comprising Core Strategy,
saved policies from the Local Plan 2001 and draft Development Management
Polices
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan

5.2 Table 3 below demonstrates the relationship between LNP policies and the
corresponding strategic policies of PDNPA and SMDC. All LNP policies are shown to
be in conformity with strategic policy.

Policy 1
5.3 The LNP area is a small, sparsely populated, rural farming area. It consists of the
small village of Meerbrook, the hamlet of Upper Hulme, and some outlying farms and
houses. The identification of the site at Upper Hulme as an opportunity for
development has been enthusiastically supported by the community. It is the only site
that can accommodate the development of a mixture of houses, together with the
development of some light industrial units. It builds on an underused industrial site, the
design criteria are to conform with PDNPA and SMDC planning guidelines and it
provides additional mixed housing stock to add to the SMDC strategy for the wider
area.
Policy 2
5.4 Within the LNP area there are a number of holiday homes. By their nature they are
never fully occupied, but nevertheless still require full time maintenance. Flexibility in
their use as full time rental properties can bring additional income to the owners,
additional newcomers into the community, and additional spending power into the local
economy. These are all supported by SMDC policies.
Policies 3 and 4
5.6 The narrow country roads and restricted parking in the area mean that we must
take steps to minimise the environmental impact of traffic on the community. These
policies support a designated parking area at a local tourist spot (The Roaches),
require any development at the Upper Hulme site to have adequate parking facilities
and require any planning applications to provide an acceptable transport statement to
ensure parking will not cause access issues.

14

Page 192

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

Table 3
Does LNP
policy
conform with
strategic
policy?

LNP Policy

Summary of
content

PDNPA

SMDC

Policy
1

Housing stock

Provision of
relevant mixed
housing stock.

Core
Strategy
HC1,

Policy SS
4, 9, 10, 11
Policy H1
Policy R2

Yes, there is a
mixed housing
development
on a brownfield
site.

Policy
1

Design criteria

Core
Strategy
L1, NPA
adopted
Design
Guide

Policy SS
9, 10
Policy DC3
Policy R2

Yes, the
development
would be
controlled by
the PDNPA
Design Guide

Policy
1

Small business
developments

High quality
designs for
new
development
which enhance
parish
character
Industrial and
business
development
of the Upper
Hulme site

Core
Strategy
E2

Policy SS
6b, 9,10

Yes, the plan
involves
developing
small business
opportunities

Policy
2

Flexible use of
ancillary
accommodation

Provision for
long term
rental
of holiday
cottages within
the
PDNPA

Core
Strategy
HC4

Policy SS
9,10
Policy R1

Yes, this
flexible
approach to
holiday
accommodation
fits with PDNPA
policy

Policy
3, 4

Design and
landscape
criteria

Local design
policies

Core
strategy
L1

Policy SS
9, 10, 11

Yes, these
policies
minimise the
effect of
parking on
transport within
the parish

Policy
4

Improved car
parking

Encourage
additional
seasonal car
parking at the
Roaches.

Core
Strategy
T7

Policy SS
9,10

Yes, this Policy
provides
minimal impact,
maximum
benefit parking
at a tourist
attraction

15

Page 193

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

6.0 European Union Obligations
Environmental Impact and Habitat Regulations
6.1 A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening was undertaken by Peak
District National Park Authority. The screening confirms that a Strategic Environmental
Assessment is not required for this Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan. It concludes:
“It is demonstrated, through assessment against the significance criteria in
the SEA Directive and Regulations, as set out in Section 3, that the impact
of the implementation of Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to
result in significant environmental effects. On this basis, a full SEA will not
be required to be undertaken.”
6.2 The screening was submitted to the statutory environmental bodies (Historic
England, Natural England and the Environment Agency) who agreed with the
conclusion of the SEA.
6.3 The letter from Historic England dated 1 Aug 2018 states:
“On the basis of the information supplied and in the context of the criteria
set out in Schedule 1 of the Environmental Assessment Regulations
[Annex II of the ‘SEA’ Directive], Historic England concurs with your view
that the preparation of a Strategic Environmental Assessment is not
required.”
6.4 The letter from the Environment Agency dated 11 Sept 2018 states:
“Having reviewed the proposals we do not consider there to be significant
environmental impacts as a result of this plan, therefore we concur with
the conclusions of the report and do not require a SEA/SA to be
undertaken in support of the plan.”
6.5 The letter from Natural England dated 18 Feb 2019 states:
“It is our advice, based on the information accompanying the consultation,
that it is unlikely that any significant environmental effects will result from
the implementation of the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan. We therefore
agree with the Screening Report’s conclusion that a full SEA would not be
required.”

6.6 A Habitat Regulation’s Assessment (HRA) screening was undertaken by the Peak
District National Park Authority. This report concluded:
“Due to the limited scale of the development, its distance from the SPA/SAC
and even greater distance from the key bird species, its location in the valley
below the Natura 2000 site and the likely negligible impacts compared to
16

Page 194

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

existing recreational pressure, it is concluded that the policies set out in the
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan are unlikely to have a significant impact on
Natura 2000 sites.”
6.7 The screening was submitted to Natural England who agreed with this conclusion.
The letter from Natural England dated 18 February 2019 states:
“Natural England also agrees with the screening report’s conclusions that
the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan would not be likely to result in a
significant effect on any European Site either alone or in combination and
therefore no further assessment work under the Habitats Regulations
would be required.”
Human Rights
6.8 An equalities impact assessment has not been undertaken, as no longer required
under the Equalities Act 2010, and it is not considered the Plan discriminates unfairly
or in a manner which is contrary to the Human Rights Act 1998.

17

Page 195

Leekfrith NP

Basic Conditions Statement

February 2019

7.0 Conclusion
7.1 It is considered that the Basic Conditions as set out in Schedule 4B of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 have been met by Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan.
7.2 Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan:





contributes to the achievement of sustainable development
is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development
plan for the area of the authority
does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations
meets prescribed conditions

18

Page 196

Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan
SEA Statement of Reasons

1.0 This statement has been produced to comply with Regulation 15(1) e (ii) of the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015.
2.0 A neighbourhood plan is required to meet a number of basic conditions, one of which being
it must not breach and be otherwise compatible with EU and Human Rights obligations. This
requires neighbourhood plans to fully consider the requirements of the SEA regulations which
transpose the EU’s SEA Directive into law and which requires those making plans that could
impact on the environment to consider whether they are likely to have a significant effect or not.
3.0 A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Assessment was prepared by
Peak District National Park Authority Planning Officers for the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan
(see Appendix 1). This Assessment was made available to the statutory environmental bodies
(Natural England, Historic England and Environment Agency) for a 6 week period from 25 July
2018.
4.0 The Assessment concluded that the neighbourhood plan was not likely to have significant
environmental effects and consequently that a strategic environmental assessment was not
required. This conclusion was not objected to by the statutory environmental bodies.

Adele Metcalfe
Community Policy Planner
June 2019

Page 197

This page is intentionally left blank

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)

Leekfrith
Neighbourhood
Plan

Strategic Environmental
Assessment
Screening Report

June 2018

1

Page 199

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Legislative Background

3. Determination of the likeliness of significant
environmental effects of Leekfrith neighbourhood
plan
4. Conclusion of screening process

2

Page 200

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)

1. Introduction
A neighbourhood plan must be compatible with European Union (EU) obligations, as incorporated into
UK law, in order to be legally compliant.
This screening report is designed to determine whether or not the contents of the submission draft
Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Jan 2018) (hereafter known as ‘LNP’) requires a Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC.
The relevant planning authorities, Peak District National Park Authority PDNPA and Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council SMDC) must decide whether LNP is compatible with the above Directive:



when it takes the decision on whether the neighbourhood plan should proceed to referendum;
and
when it takes the decision on whether or not to ‘make’ the neighbourhood plan (which brings it
into force)

2. Legislative Background
The basis for Strategic Environmental Assessments and Sustainability Appraisal legislation is European
Directive 2001/42/EC (the Directive) and was transposed into English law by the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the Regulations).
Article 3(2) of the Directive makes SEA mandatory for plans and programmes ‘which are prepared for . .
. town and country planning or land use and which set the framework for future development consent for
projects . . .’
There are plans for which an SEA is not always required. For plans which ‘determine the use of small
areas at local level’ or are ‘minor modifications’ to existing plans, the Directive only requires SEA where
they are likely to have significant environmental effects. The expressions ‘small area’ and ‘local level’
are not defined in the Directive and must be interpreted in relation to the nature and scope of a particular
plan.
In order to determine whether the LNP is likely to have significant environmental effects, and therefore
require an SEA, and (if so) the level of detail needed, the Department of Communities and Local
Government (DCLG) National Planning Practice Guidance advises that the relevant planning authority
should:




at an early stage assess the draft neighbourhood plan’s potential scope against the criteria set
out in Schedule 1 to the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations
2004); and
in so doing, should consult the statutory consultation bodies, in this case, Historic England,
Natural England and the Environment Agency; and
where a plan is unlikely to have significant environmental effects, prepare a statement of its
reasons.

Where a neighbourhood plan is likely to have a significant effect on the environment an SEA must be
carried out. Section 3 of this report assess LNP for the likeliness of significant environmental effects.

3

Page 201

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)

3. Determination of the likeliness of significant environmental effects of Leekfrith neighbourhood plan

Page 202

Table 1: Comparison of Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan against Schedule 1 of Environmental Assessment of Plans and
Programmes Regulations 2004
Significance Criteria set out in
Impact of the draft Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan
SEA Directive (Annex ii) and
Schedule 1 of Environmental
Assessment of Plans and
Programmes Regulations 2004
1. The characteristics of plans and programmes, having regard, in particular, to:
(a) the degree to which the plan Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (LNP) would, if adopted, form part of the statutory development plan for
or programme sets a framework the Leekfrith Neighbourhood Area (LNA). Therefore the ‘projects and other activities’ for which LNP
for projects and other activities,
helps to set a framework are concerned with managing land-use and development.
either with regard to the
location, nature, size and
However the location, nature and size of the area affected by LNP are all small. The population is just
operating conditions, or by
363 people living in 139 households. The relevant area is rural, comprising only 2 villages (Meerbrook
allocating resources
and Upper Hulme), scattered farmsteads and open land. Most of the parish lies within the Peak District
National Park and part is a designated Special Area of Conservation, meaning that development is
extremely restricted.
LNP sits within the wider framework set by the National Planning Policy Framework, and by law must
‘be in general conformity’ with strategic planning policies for the area, in this case the Core Strategies
of Peak District National Park Authority (PDNPA) and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC),
as well as having regard to the policies in the emerging SMDC Local Plan. Therefore the degree to
which LNP sets a framework for land use is minimal – it is the lowest level plan in the planning
hierarchy and is local in nature, concerned only with the parish of Leekfrith. Development on a large
scale would be unsustainable in this rural parish as it would generate a disproportionate number of
additional journeys outside the villages and may undermine the spatial strategy. Policies in the
emerging SMDC Local Plan and in the PDNPA Core Strategy control development in rural areas both
in terms of scale and type, in order to ensure that the character of settlements and countryside is not
undermined. An assessment of the LNP policies for their conformity to the adopted Core Strategies
has been undertaken. This confirms that LNP is general conformity with the Core Strategies and no
significant changes are introduced.
In addition, the above strategic policies were themselves subject to a full Sustainability Appraisal which
included an SEA assessment.
SEA of SMDC Core Strategy concluded “ . . .the Core Strategy will contribute permanent positive

4

Likeliness of
significant
environmental
effects

Not likely

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)
social, economic and environmental impacts on sustainability by creating distinctive, sustainable and
self-sufficient settlements, meeting local needs and a strong, prosperous economy. . . Negative
impacts would largely result from the development of new residential and employment sites due to the
use of greenfield sites, impact on soil resources, loss of views/impact on the landscape and energy
consumption of new buildings.
The SEA of the PDNPA Core Strategy concluded that it “is likely to have a generally positive effect on
the SA Objectives and the SEA Directive topics. There are, perhaps unsurprisingly, no significant
adverse effects expected as a result of the policies, and only relatively few minor adverse effects.
These are likely to be relatively small-scale, localised and the result of policies that deliver significant
benefits to other SA Objectives.”

There are only 4 policies in LNP:

Page 203

Policy 1 describes the development that would be permissible at Upper Hulme Mill, currently a small
industrial site with a mix of traditional and modern buildings.
Policy 2 permits the temporary renting of ancillary holiday accommodation on the general rented
market
Policy 3 requires any proposal for development to be accompanied by a transport statement
Policy 4 allocates land for a temporary (28 day rule) car park

(b) the degree to which the plan
or programme influences other
plans and programmes
including those in a hierarchy.
(c) the relevance of the plan or
programme for the integration of
environmental considerations in
particular with a view to
promoting sustainable
development

LNP is the lowest level land use plan and does not influence other plans or programmes in a
hierarchy. Its influence is restricted to the 4 areas of local planning policy as described above.

Not likely

One of the ‘basic conditions’ that LNP in law must meet is that it will contribute to improvements in
environmental, economic and social conditions or that consideration has been given to how any
potential adverse effects arising from the proposals may be prevented, reduced or offset.

Not likely

The goal of sustainable development is described in the LNP’s ‘Visions’:
 A community for all ages
 Where the focal points of our community are valued and protected
 Where sustainable businesses can thrive and employ
 Conservation
Policy 1 will achieve the aim of sustainable development by permitting the sensitive redevelopment of a

5

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)
currently used site for housing and business uses
Policy 2 will achieve the aim of sustainable redevelopment by providing homes in existing properties
Policy 3 will achieve the aim of sustainable development by requiring the traffic implications of a
development to be considered.
Policy 4 will contribute to the aims of sustainable development by dealing with the impact of visitor
traffic in a way that is sensitive to landscape and habitats.
(d) environmental problems
relevant to the plan or
programme

LNP is relevant for the consideration of environmental problems but at a purely local level. The
environmental concerns addressed by LNP are measures in relation to soil and material assets
including to minimise the use of non-renewable resources through the re-use of existing buildings and
in relation to climate change, air and water through minimising impacts on existing traffic congestion.

Page 204

(e) the relevance of the plan or
LNP is restricted to land use planning and not directly relevant to the implementation of European
programme for the
legislation.
implementation of Community
legislation (for example plans
and programmes linked to
waste management or water
protection.)
2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in particular to :
(a) the probability, duration,
The area to be affected is the parish of Leekfrith, comprising the village of Meerbrook, the hamlet of
frequency and reversibility of
Upper Hulme, and scattered farmsteads. It is a protected rural, upland landscape. The PDNPA’s
the effects.
landscape character assessment describes the area as comprising ‘upper valley pastures’, ‘wooded
slopes and valleys’ and ‘moorland hills and ridges’. Part of the area is within the Peak District National
Park, the South Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation and Peak District Moors special
Protection Area.

Not likely

Not likely.

Modest but enduring positive effects are expected to be achieved through policies to improve the built
environment and to address traffic congestion and air quality.

(b) the cumulative nature of the
effects
(c) the transboundary nature of
the effects
(d) the risks to human health or
the environment
(e) the magnitude and spatial

6

Overall the cumulative nature of the effects is likely to be small scale but positive in terms of their
environmental impact.
There will be no transboundary effects across member states however there may be beneficial effects
across neighbouring parishes through improved car parking for visitors..
No risks to human health identified. Risk to the environment is minimised by conformity with National
Park Core Strategy. The Plan seeks to improve human health by addressing traffic and related air
quality issues.
LNP covers the parish area of Leekfrith (approximately 3,000ha), population 363 (2011 census).

Not likely
Not likely
Not likely

Not likely

SEA Screening Report for Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan (Submission version Jan 2018)
extent of the effects.
(fi) the value and vulnerability of
the area likely to be affected
due to special natural
characteristics or cultural
heritage.

Magnitude and spatial extent of effects is comparatively small.
The area to be affected is the parish of Leekfrith, comprising the village of Meerbrook, the hamlet of
Upper Hulme, and scattered farmsteads. The value and vulnerability of the area is high, recognised by
the designation (in part of the area) as Peak District National Park, the South Pennine Moors Special
Area of Conservation and Peak District Moors Special Protection Area. It is a protected rural, upland
landscape. The PDNPA’s landscape character assessment describes the area as comprising ‘upper
valley pastures’, ‘wooded slopes and valleys’ and ‘moorland hills and ridges’
Policy 1 would impact on the hamlet of Upper Hulme, and affects land that is adjacent to a
conservation area, The Policy would have a small, positive, effect on the environment and character of
the settlement by preserving existing buildings of quality and requiring removal of non-traditional
structures.
Policy 4 would impact on land that is adjacent to the SPA/SAC, however it is improved grassland of low
wildlife value. Staffordshire Wildlife Trust, in the Regulation 14 statuary consultation, did not object to
this policy.

Page 205

(fii) the value and vulnerability of
the area likely to be affected
due to exceeded environmental
quality standards or limit values.
(fiii) the value and vulnerability
of the area likely to be affected
due to intensive land use
(g) the effects on areas or
landscapes which have a
recognised national, Community
or international protection
status.

Not likely.
The positive
contribution of
Policy 1 to the
environment of
Upper Hulme was
made more
explicit in the
policy rather than
appearing in the
map key as a
result of
comments
received during
Reg 14
consultation.

Due to the scale of development proposed, the plan is unlikely to result in exceedance of
environmental quality standards such as those relating to air, water and soil quality.

Not likely

Intensive land use is not proposed by LNP

Not likely

The area of LNP is partly within a National Park and part of the area is designated Special Protected
Area/Special Area of Conservation. The emerging SMDC Local Plan and PDNPA Core Strategy
include policies for the protection of landscape character, the historic environment and the integrity of
European sites.

Not likely

4. Conclusion of Screening Process
It is demonstrated, through assessment against the significance criteria in the SEA Directive and Regulations, as set out in Section 3, that the
impact of the implementation of Leekfrith Neighbourhood Plan is not likely to result in significant environmental effects. On this basis, a full SEA will
not be required to be undertaken.

7

This page is intentionally left blank

